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ROCKY MOUNT TOWN COUNCIL 
AGENDA 

REGULAR COUNCIL MEETING 
TO BE HELD IN COUNCIL CHAMBERS 
ROCKY MOUNT MUNICIPAL BUILDING 

345 DONALD AVENUE 
ROCKY MOUNT, VIRGINIA 

FEBRUARY 11, 2013 
AT 7:00 P.M. 

 
NOTE:   WHEN SPEAKING BEFORE TOWN COUNCIL, PLEASE COME TO THE PODIUM AND GIVE YOUR NAME AND 

ADDRESS, ADDRESSING THE TOWN COUNCIL AND NOT THE AUDIENCE.  WHEN GIVING COUNCIL ANY 
DOCUMENTATION, COPIES ARE TO BE GIVEN TO TOWN CLERK PRIOR TO SPEAKING. 

ALL CELLULAR PHONES MUST BE TURNED OFF DURING COUNCIL MEETING. 
THE TOWN OF ROCKY MOUNT IS PLEASED TO OFFER ASSISTANCE DEVICES AT ITS MEETINGS FOR RESIDENTS 

WITH SPECIAL HEARING NEEDS.  ASK ANY STAFF MEMBER OR THE TOWN CLERK  
AND A DEVICE WILL BE LOANED TO YOU. 

 
 

I. Roll Call 
 
II. Pledge of Allegiance 

 
III. Approval of Agenda 

 
IV. Special Items 

(none at this time) 
 

V. Public Hearing(s)  
(none at this time) 

 
VI. Approval of Draft Minutes 

• January 14, 2013 Regular Council Meeting 
 

VII. Approval of Consent Agenda 
 

• Miscellaneous Resolutions/Proclamations (none at this time) 
• Miscellaneous Action (none at this time) 
• Departmental Monthly Reports 

  -  Community Development 
  -  Finance Department 
  -  Fire Department 
  -  Police Department 
  -  Public Works Department 
  -  Wastewater Department 
  -  Water Department 
 

VIII. Hearing of Citizens  
 
IX. Old Business  

 
A. Review and consideration of draft ordinance amending Chapter 22, Article II, Division 2 of the Code 

of the Town of Rocky Mount, Virginia (2002), in part, and providing for changes to weed and trash 
ordinance in the Town of Rocky Mount. 

 
X. New Business 

 
A. Formal presentation by Town Auditors (Robinson, Farmer, Cox Associates) of the Comprehensive 

Annual Financial Report (CAFR) for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2012. 
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B. Review and consideration of proposed American Electric Power (AEP) rate agreement in order to 

extend existing current rates paid by the Town of Rocky Mount.  
 

C. Review and consideration of request of Rocky Mount Beautification and Urban Design (BUD) 
Commission for Appointment of Aaron Burdick as a voting member of the BUD Commission.  
 

D. Review and consideration of request of Johnny Nolen on behalf of Child Advocacy Center to hold 
their annual “Johnny CASA 5-Miler-5k Run/Walk Event” within Town of Rocky Mount corporate 
limits. 
 

E. Review and consideration of request of Outlaw Car Cruisers Club to hold annual events within Town 
of Rocky Mount corporate limits.  
 

F. Review and consideration of approval of proposed “FY 14 Budget & Capital Improvement Plan 
Schedule” for upcoming Fiscal Year 2014 budget process.  

 
XI. Committee Reports  

 
A. Finance & Human Services Committee regarding presentation of Town of Rocky Mount’s 

Comprehensive Annual Financial Report (CAFR) for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2012 (being 
discussed under “New Business – Item A).  

 
XII. Other Matters, Concerns and Rise ‘N Shine Appearances 

 
A. Referrals to Planning Commission from Rocky Mount Town Council 
B. Council Members Appearing with Town Staff on Rise ‘N Shine 

 
XIII. Closed Meeting and Action 
 

• Section 2.2-3711(A).7 - Consultation with legal counsel and briefings by staff members or 
consultants pertaining to actual or probable litigation, where such consultation or briefing in 
open meeting would adversely affect the negotiating or litigating posture of the public body; and 
consultation with legal counsel employed or retained by a public body regarding specific legal 
matters requiring the provision of legal advice by such counsel. For the purposes of this 
subdivision, "probable litigation" means litigation that has been specifically threatened or on 
which the public body or its legal counsel has a reasonable basis to believe will be commenced 
by or against a known party. Nothing in this subdivision shall be construed to permit the closure 
of a meeting merely because an attorney representing the public body is in attendance or is 
consulted on a matter (consultation with Town Attorney). 

 
XIV. Adjournment 

 
 

Copies of Agenda Packet are available for review at the Town Clerk’s Office located at the Rocky Mount Municipal Building, 345 
Donald Avenue, Rocky Mount, Virginia Monday through Friday during normal working hours, or by going to Town of Rocky 
Mount website: www.rockymountva.org. 
 
Notice of intent to comply with Americans With Disabilities Act: Special assistance is available for disabled persons addressing 
Town Council.  Efforts will be made to provide adaptations or accommodations based on individual needs of qualified 
individuals with disability, provided that reasonable advance notification has been received by the Town Clerk’s Office. For 
assistance, please contact the Town Clerk’s Office, Town of Rocky Mount, 345 Donald Avenue, Rocky Mount, Va. 24151, or by 
calling (540) 483-7660. 
 
Thank you for taking the time to participate in your Town Council meeting.  The Mayor and members of Council invite and 
encourage you to attend whenever possible because good government depends on the interest and involvement of citizens.  

http://www.rockymountva.org/


 
 
AGENDA ITEM 

 
SYNOPSIS AGENDA 
FEBRUARY 11, 2013 

REGULAR ROCKY MOUNT TOWN COUNCIL MEETING 
 

 
I. Roll Call 
 
II. Pledge of 
Allegiance 

 
 
 

  
III.  Approval of 
Agenda 
 

 
 
Enclosure:  Yes 

 
IV.  Special Items 

 
(none at this time) 
 
Enclosure:  No 
 

 
V.  Public 
Hearing(s) 
 
 
  

 
(none at this time) 

 
Enclosure: No 
 

 
VI.  Approval of 
Draft Minutes 
 

 
• January 14, 2013 Regular Council Meeting 

 
Enclosure:  Yes 
 

 
VII.  Approval of 
Consent Agenda 
 
 
 
 
 

 
• Miscellaneous Resolutions/Proclamations  
• Miscellaneous Action 
• Departmental Monthly Reports   

-  Community Development 
-  Finance Department 
-  Fire Department 
-  Police Department  
-  Public Works Department 
-  Wastewater Department 
-  Water Department 

• Bill List 
 
Enclosure:  Yes 
 

 
VIII.  Hearing of 
Citizens 
 

 
(none at this time) 
 
Enclosure: No 
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IX.  Old Business 
 
 
 

 
A. Review and consideration of draft ordinance amending Chapter 22, 

Article II, Division 2 of the Code of the Town of Rocky Mount, Virginia 
(2002), in part, and providing for changes to weed and trash 
ordinance in the Town of Rocky Mount. 
 
The Planning Commission met on February 5, 2013 to review the 
proposed changes to the weed and trash ordinance, with a 
recommendation to Council for approval as presented (6-0 vote with 
Planning Commission Member Derwin Hall being absent).  
 

Enclosure:  Yes 
 

 
X.  New Business 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
A. Formal presentation by Town auditors (Robinson, Farmer, Cox 

Associates) of the Comprehensive Annual Financial Report 
(CAFR) for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2012. 
 
Enclosed is the CAFR report and cover letter from the auditors for 
Council’s review and consideration. 

 
Enclosures:  Yes 
 
B. Review and consideration of proposed American Electric Power 

(AEP) rate agreement in order to extend existing current rates paid 
by the Town of Rocky Mount. 
 
Enclosed is further explanation from the Town Manager regarding 
the details on the proposed AEP agreement in order for the Town 
to continue receiving its discounted electric rate, along with the 
proposed agreement and contract.  
 

Enclosures:  Yes 
 
C. Review and consideration of request of Rocky Mount Beautification 

and Urban Design (BUD) Commission for appointment of Aaron 
Burdick as a voting member of the BUD Commission as requested 
by Chairman Lorinda Lionberger. 
 
Enclosed is a letter from Chairman Lorinda Lionberger outlining 
request.  
 

Enclosure: Yes 
 
D. Review and consideration of request of Johnny Nolen on behalf of 

Child Advocacy Center to hold their annual “Johnny CASA 5-Miler-
5k Run/Walk Event” within Town of Rocky Mount Corporate limits.  
The Assistant Chief of Police has reviewed the request and sees 
no problems with it being held on the date as requested.  
 
Enclosed is a letter from the Johnny Nolen (Race Director) 
outlining request.  

 
Enclosure:  Yes 
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X.  New Business 
(continued) 

 
E. Review and consideration of request of Outlaw Car Cruisers Club 

to hold annual car show and Cruise-In events in downtown Rocky 
Mount and request of closure of streets.  The Chief of Police has 
review the requests and sees no problems with it being held on the 
dates as requested.  
 
Enclosed is a letter from Secretary Sondra Agee outlining 
requests.  
 

Enclosure: Yes 
 

F. Review and consideration of proposed “FY 14 Budget & Capital 
Improvement Plan Schedule” from the Finance Director listing 
dates of activity for the upcoming Fiscal Year 2014 budget 
process. 
 

Enclosure: Yes 
 

 
IX.  Committee 
Reports 
 

 
A. The Finance & Human Services Committee met on February 11, 

2013 at 6 p.m. to receive a presentation of the Town of Rocky 
Mount Fiscal Year 2012 audit by the Town auditors, Robinson, 
Farmer, Cox Associates.  Due to the lateness of the meeting, a 
recommendation will be made during the regular Rocky Mount 
Council meeting at 7 p.m. on February 11, 2013.  

   
Enclosure:  No 
 

 
XII.  Other Matters, 
Concerns, and 
Rise ‘N Shine 
Appearances 
 
 

 
A. Referrals to Planning Commission from Town Council 

 
Enclosure: No 
 
A. Council Members Appearing with Town Staff on Rise ‘N Shine 

 
Enclosure:  No 
 

 
XIII.  Closed 
Meeting Items 
 
 

 
Section 2.2-3711(A).7 - Consultation with legal counsel and briefings by 
staff members or consultants pertaining to actual or probable litigation, 
where such consultation or briefing in open meeting would adversely affect 
the negotiating or litigating posture of the public body; and consultation with 
legal counsel employed or retained by a public body regarding specific legal 
matters requiring the provision of legal advice by such counsel. For the 
purposes of this subdivision, "probable litigation" means litigation that has 
been specifically threatened or on which the public body or its legal counsel 
has a reasonable basis to believe will be commenced by or against a known 
party. Nothing in this subdivision shall be construed to permit the closure of 
a meeting merely because an attorney representing the public body is in 
attendance or is consulted on a matter (consultation with Town Attorney). 
 
Enclosure:  No 
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ROCKY MOUNT TOWN COUNCIL 
REGULAR COUNCIL MEETING 

JANUARY 14, 2013 
 
 
The January 14, 2013 regular Council meeting of the Rocky Mount Town Council was held 
in the Council Chambers of the Rocky Mount Municipal Building located at 345 Donald 
Avenue, Rocky Mount, Virginia at 7:00 p.m. with Mayor Steven C. Angle presiding.  The 
following members of Council were present: 
 

Vice Mayor Gregory B. Walker and Council Members       
Bobby M. Cundiff, Jerry W. Greer, Sr., P. Ann Love, Robert L. 
Moyer, and Billie W. Stockton 

 
The meeting was called to order by Mayor Angle. 
 
For the record, the following were present:  All members of Town Council as noted, Town 
Manager C. James Ervin, Assistant Town Manager/Community Development Director 
Matthew C. Hankins (and Planning & Zoning Administrator), Town Attorney John T. 
Boitnott, Chief of Police David Cundiff, Finance Director Linda Woody, Town Planner 
Patrick Rust, Superintendent of Water Department Robert Deitrich, Superintendent of 
Wastewater Department Timothy Burton, Fire Chief Charles Robertson, Deputy Clerk 
Stacey B. Sink,  and Town Clerk Patricia H. Keatts.  Absent was Public Works Director 
Cecil R. Mason.  
 
The Mayor led the Pledge of Allegiance. 
 
 
APPROVAL OF AGENDA 
 
Prior to the meeting, Council had received the agenda for review and consideration of 
approval. 
 
 Motion was made by Vice Mayor Walker to approve the agenda as presented, 

seconded by Council Member Love and carried unanimously by those present. 
 
 
SPECIAL ITEMS 
 
The Chief of Police introduced to Council two new police officers, being :  Troy Lamy and 
Steven Burgoyne. 
 
 
PUBLIC HEARING 
 
Let the record show there were no public hearings at this time.  

DRAFT 
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APPROVAL OF MINUTES 
 
Prior to the meeting, Council had received for consideration of approval the following draft 
minutes: 
  
 ●  December 10, 2012 Regular Council Meeting 
 
The Mayor asked if there were any changes to the draft minutes, and there being none, the 
Mayor entertained a motion.  
 
 Motion was made by Council Member Stockton to approve the Council meeting 

minutes as presented, with motion on the floor being seconded by Council Member 
Moyer.  There being no discussion, let the record show that the motion on the floor 
passed unanimously by those present.  

 
 
APPROVAL OF CONSENT AGENDA 
 
The approval of the Consent Agenda consists of approving any miscellaneous 
resolutions/proclamations, miscellaneous action, departmental monthly reports, and bill list 
that were submitted prior to the meeting for Council’s review and consideration.   
 

 Miscellaneous Resolutions/Proclamations (none at this time) 
 Miscellaneous Action (none at this time) 
 Departmental Monthly Report 

o Community Development 
o Finance Department 
o Fire Department 
o Police Department 
o Public Works Department 
o Waste Water Department 
o Water Department 

 Bill List 
 
There being no comments, the Mayor entertained a motion. 
 

 Motion was made by Council Member Cundiff to approve the draft Consent 
Agenda, with motion on the floor being seconded by Vice Mayor Walker. There 
being no discussion, let the record show that the motion on the floor passed 
unanimously by those present.  

 
 
HEARING OF CITIZENS 
 
Let the record show that no one had contacted the Town Clerk to come forward to speak. 
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At this time, the Mayor opened the floor to anyone wishing to come forward to speak.  Let 
the record show that no one came forward. 
 
 
OLD BUSINESS 
 
A. Contract Award – Water Plant Water Tank Maintenance 

 
(In an effort to assure the Town was getting the best possible service and price with the 
Town’s ongoing water tank maintenance contract, a Request For Proposal (RFP) for 
maintenance service was issued in November of 2012.  Based upon the review of bids, 
references and visits to active work sites, staff has chosen Southern Corrosion, Inc. as 
the winning bidder.  Their base bid of $209,000 for the five-year period was the least 
expensive of the three bids received.  Southern Corrosion, Inc. is an east coast regional 
company based in Roanoke Rapids, North Carolina, with them having excellent 
references.  They have been in business for 25 years.  The company also will use their 
in-house employees for the maintenance work versus subcontractors, which will 
improve the quality of work the Town receives on the maintenance of the tanks.  The 
Superintendent of the Water Plant has visited one of their job sites and was impressed 
with the cleanliness and organization of their work. Staff requests approval to proceed 
with signing the contract documents as presented before Council.) 
 
The Town Manager stated that the Town’s current water tank maintenance contract has 
been held by Utility Services, Inc. since early 1980’s and signed by the late Mayor Allen 
Woody; therefore, it was felt by staff that in order to make sure the Town was getting 
the best service possible, an RFP needed to be sent out.   
 
Vice Mayor Walker questioned why the first five years of the contract were less than the 
following five years, with the Superintendent of the Water Plant explaining that the 
maintenance will be higher.  The Town Manager informed Council that he, along with 
the Finance Director and Superintendent of the Water Plant, have looked at the 
contract and originally it was going to be a flat yearly fee, but in taking the tier format, 
the Town was able to get a better deal.  The Superintendent of the Water Plant 
confirmed that the contract can be renegotiate after the first five years, with the Town 
Manager stating that the contract can be cancelled anytime after due notice is given.  
He also confirmed to Council Member Love that Southern Corrosion, Inc. does not 
contract their work out to subcontractors and will use their own employees.  

 
There being no further comments, the Mayor entertained a motion. 
 
  Motion was made by Vice Mayor Walker to approve the contract award as 
presented (with staff having authorization to sign the contract documents), with motion 
on the floor being seconded by Council Member Moyer.  Discussion ensued.  The Town 
Manager stated that he and the Town Attorney will make a few corrections under 
Section 8 (pertaining to liability).  There being no further discussion, let the record show 
that the motion on the floor passed unanimously by those present. 
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B. Contract Award – Water Plant Electrical System Upgrade 
 
(Based on a review of bids by the Town’s consulting engineer Hurt and Proffitt, staff has 
chosen to award the Water Plant electrical system upgrade project to Varney, Inc. of 
Roanoke, Virginia.  The bid price for the total project, including complement 
replacement of the main electrical service connection and control panels (raw and 
finished), is $290,300.  Varney, Inc. has provided a signed copy of the contract 
documents and scheduled a pre-construction meeting for January 14, 2013 at the 
Water Treatment Plant.  Staff requests approval to proceed with signing the contract 
documents and the Notice to Proceed for the Water Treatment Plant electrical system 
upgrade as presented before Council.) 
 
The Town Manager stated that Council had authorized the Water Plant to proceed with 
the largest portion of the work as previously discussed during recent Council meetings, 
resulting in the need for the electrical upgrade. The Superintendent of the Water Plant 
stated that the pre-construction meeting was held today and that work should begin end 
of February and be concluded mid-May, pending Council approval. 
 
Council Member Cundiff stated that he has discussed today with the Superintendent of 
the Water Plant regarding if local people had a choice to bid on this process, further 
stating that he is concerned that the Town needs, when it can, to use local contractors, 
with them being able to have the opportunity given to respond to a bid.   
 
The Superintendent of the Water Plant explained that ten companies showed up for the 
pre-bid meeting, but only three were interested in turning bids in to the Town.  He 
further explained that local people were sent the Request for Proposal (RFP). 
 
The Town Manager confirmed to Council Member Moyer that local people did receive 
the RFP, but that the Town could not entice them to bid; and he further stated that he 
agrees with Council that local contractors should be invited, which they had been.   
 
There being no further comments, the Mayor entertained a motion. 
 
  Motion was made by Council Member Cundiff to award the contract as 
recommended by staff, with motion on the floor being seconded by Vice Mayor Walker. 
There being no discussion, let the record show that the motion on the floor was carried 
unanimously by those present.  
 

C. Review and Consideration of United States Department of Agriculture (USDA) Grant to 
Purchase Two Rocky Mount Police Department Vehicles 
 
(Staff and departmental recommendation for purchase of two Ford Interceptor Utility 
police vehicles in support of the K-9 program, using funds supplied by USDA and to 
appropriate funds from Fund balance to provide the Town share.) 
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The Assistant Town Manager stated that Council had accepted the award of $25,000 in 
USDA Rural Development funds for the purchase of two police vehicles, with staff 
reviewing the Town Police Department needs to determine a recommendation for the 
vehicle purchase.  He further stated the following: 
- One of the department’s most successful efforts over the past two years has been 

the implementation of the K-9 officer program.  Their efforts in drug detection have 
yielded tangible results in decreasing the amount of drug activity in the Town and 
increasing arrests made for drug activity. 

- Vehicles currently used for K-9 officers are patrol cruisers, which are not ideally 
suited to safely transport and deploy K-9s.  If this successful effort is to continue, 
the department needs vehicles to safely carry the animals and their handlers. 

- Secondly, the department has a greater need for vehicles that can safely carry 
officers responding to emergencies during dangerous road conditions.  Typically, 
under snow and ice conditions, the department either has to put chains on the 
Crown Victorias; use one of two available department four-wheel-drive vehicles; or 
borrow unmarked, non-police four-wheel-drives from other departments. 

- The appropriate response to both meet these needs and use the unexpected, 
unbudgeted USDA funds would be to purchase new 2013 Ford Interceptor Utility 
vehicles (the police department equivalent of the Ford Explorer), using the state 
contract. 

- The base contract price for these vehicles is $25,513 per vehicle before options.  
Staff recommends adding light, officer safety and secure operations dealer options 
at a cost of $4,811 per vehicle, bringing the vehicle price per vehicle to $30,324.50. 

- The total delivery cost is $60,649.  The department will need an additional $6,500 to 
install arrest cages, radios and miscellaneous racks and equipment in vehicles, 
bringing the total to $67,149.  Credit that total with $25,000 from USDA, and the 
total Town share needed from Fund balance is $42,149.  This amount would 
normally have been requested in Fiscal Year 2014 budget requests, but the USDA 
grant must be spent by end of March 2013. 

- Staff recommends approval of request as presented. 
 
Prior to the meeting, Council had received a draft “Town of Rocky Mount Supplemental 
Appropriation Resolution for the Fiscal Year Ending June 30, 2013” for the Town to use 
$25,000 USDA grant funds, with an additional $42,149 in Town funds, to total $67,149 
for the purchase of two each 2013 Ford Interceptor Utility vehicles to safely transport 
the Town’s K-9 units.   
 
There was brief discussion regarding the differences between a two-wheel-drive versus 
a four-wheel-drive.  It was also confirmed by staff that you cannot spec out a two-
wheel-drive for a K-9 unit the same as you could a four-wheel-drive.   
 
The Chief of Police confirmed to Council that the $67,000 should take care of 
everything that would be needed for the vehicles, including the cages and lights.  He 
also confirmed that his department does get calls outside the Town limits for the use of 
the K-9 units, citing ones for drug enforcement, and recently during the event that 
happened at Ferrum College.   He further confirmed that he was okay with these funds 
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coming out of his next year’s budget. 
 
There being no further comments, the Mayor entertained a motion. 
 
  Motion was made by Council Member Greer to approve the request to authorize the 
purchase of the two police vehicles as requested, with motion on the floor being 
seconded by Council Member Cundiff.  There being no discussion, let the record show 
that the motion on the floor passed unanimously by those present. 

 
 

NEW BUSINESS 
 
A. Review and Consideration of Performance Center Design as Submitted by Hill Studio 

(Architect) in Order to Proceed with Putting the Project Out to Bid 
 
(The Performance Center Committee met on January 8, 2013 to review the architect’s 
design to redevelop the former Lynch Hardware Building.  The architect noted minor 
changes from the previous design and indicated that the project can be ready to bid 
January 27, 2013, pending Council approval.  The interior designer for Hill Studio 
presented two color schemes and finish material options, but those finish materials will 
be selected by Council after the bids are received.  By a 3-0 vote, the Performance 
Center Committee recommended that Council approve the design and authorize the 
architect and staff to proceed with putting the project out to bid.  Staff requests Council 
approval of the design and authorization for staff and the architect to put the project out 
to bid.) 
 
The Assistant Town Manager basically went over what the Performance Center 
Committee had discussed during their meeting of January 8, 2013 (as stated above). 
 
Mr. Hunter Greene, Architect with Hill Studio, came before Council, presenting a 
PowerPoint presentation regarding the design as presented to the Performance Center 
Committee on January 8, 2013: 
- Went over the initiatives to this point. 
- Went over the vicinity plan, pointing out where the existing building is located and 

where the entrance will be. 
- Went over the site plan (entrance, drop-off area, parking, along with ADA parking in 

the back, loading, Greene space, and the AHU (air/heating/unit).  Noted that one 
thing that has changed since the last presentation before Council was the 
placement of the heating and cooling system, which would be moved to the ground 
(basement) level at the back of the building so they would not be making as much 
noise, decreasing the sound level inside of the building.  Confirmed that the duct 
work would be wrapped and weather proofed along the wall, then coming into the 
building at the ground level.  One will stay upstairs and the other downstairs. 

- Went over the plans for the first floor.  Nothing has changed from the previous 
design. Did make notation of the reflecting ceiling plan, which would be very open 
and spacious in the lobby area. 
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- Went over the plan for the basement area, which is pretty much the same, with the 
Greene rooms still being located in the basement area for the performers.  The only 
thing that changed was the duct work for the AHU from where it comes inside.  Also 
pointed out the reflective ceiling as there has been a slight change in the height. 

- Went over audio visual system. 
- Highlighted where the large windows would be and how the stage would be set up 

in order to not interfere or block them (guidelines prohibit having the stage higher 
than what is being proposed).  Performers can put risers on the stage because they 
would be temporary.  There is a series of video screens, crossovers behind the 
stage, and ability to put in lighting for dance performances, with a curtain also 
located behind the stage. 

- Went over the interior work, highlighting the two color schemes, one being “warm” 
palette  and the other “cool” palette, mentioning that the Committee favored the 
“cool” palette.   

- Went over the exterior work, highlighting what has changed, with there being only 
two openings to the inside of the building in order to keep the acoustics better 
inside. 

- Highlighted again that the duct work would be coming in at ground level where the 
garage area is currently located. 

- The sketches of the building have not changed.  Went over the view from the 
Farmers’ Market; where the main entrance is located and where people will be 
dropped off at; along with where the canopy will be located at.  Confirmed to Council 
Member Greer where the unloading of the performers would be, which is the upper 
back side level of the building; also, pointed out where the performers’ dressing 
rooms and bathrooms would be located. 

- Working hard on the contract documents.  About 90% complete and now; on the 
verge of putting them out for bid with Council approval; and looking at four weeks to 
bid out.  

- Went over what the deductive alternative bid is and how that would work; and even 
with the deductive alternative, the performance hall will still be a fully functional. 

- Hill Studio is contracted to handle the bidding process and explained how this would 
work. 

 
The Mayor confirmed to Council Member Greer that once the documents are bid out, 
Council then would know the range of how much it would cost to have the former Lynch 
Hardware Building renovated to be a performance center; and that Council also could 
do nothing at all and not build it after receiving the bids, but questioned why Council 
would not want to have it built as it would bring economic growth to the Town and 
revenue for businesses that would be impacted by it being built; plus, if the building is 
renovated, the Town would have the opportunity to use historic tax credits and other 
revenue that may be available to help offset the costs involved.  
 
The Assistant Town Manager confirmed to Council that he has received interests from 
local contractors wanting to bid on the project.  Mr. Greene also confirmed this. 
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Council Member Moyer stated that he has not been against a music venue and thinks 
the architect has done a good job with his presentation, but he does not think the 
economy will support such a project; thus, he cannot support it.  
 
The Mayor disagreed and stated things will not be getting any cheaper, reiterating what 
he had said earlier about the project possibly helping to spur an economic boost for the 
Town. 
 
Council Member Greer commented that he is of the opinion to first get the contract bid 
out and then have this type of discussion after receiving the bids.  The Mayor also 
agreed, stating that until Council knows what type of grants, tax credits, and funding is 
available, Council cannot decide whether or not to proceed with the project. 
 
Council Member Cundiff stated that he is not against a music venue either, but he was 
going to be consistent with his stand from the beginning in that he cannot spend any 
money on this project and he cannot support it himself; further stating that he is against 
the principal regarding they way it has been handled from the start and he is not going 
to change his mind in the middle of the stream. 
 
The Assistant Town Manager confirmed to Council that he didn’t have anything 
particular to add to Mr. Greene’s presentation other than if Council approves to move 
forward with authorizing the staff to put the project out to bid, the bids should be back 
by the end of February and they should be before Council during their regular meeting 
in March; and now since the design is complete, staff will be more aggressive with 
looking into the tax credits and looking for tobacco funds for the project.  Thus being 
said, the Assistant Town Manager explained to Council Member Greer how the tax 
credits would work for the project. 
 
The Mayor indicated that the Performance Center Committee had voted 3-0 in favor of 
approving the design and authorizing the architect to put the project out to bid, with the 
Assistant Town Manager so confirming. 
 
There being no further comments, the Mayor entertained a motion. 
 
  Motion was made by Vice Mayor Walker to approve the design and authorize staff 
to proceed with putting the project out to bid, with motion on the floor being seconded 
by Council Member Love.  Let the record show there was no discussion.  Voting in favor 
of the motion on the floor were Vice Mayor Walker and Council Members Greer, Love 
and Stockton.  Voting in opposition to the motion on the floor were Council Members 
Cundiff and Moyer.  Let the record show that the motion on the floor passed four to two. 

 
B. Review and Consideration of Request of Wastewater Treatment Plant to Allow the Hire 

of an Intern 
 
(The Rocky Mount Waste Water Treatment Plant requested an approval to make 
available a 2013 intern position for a person that is participating in the waste water 
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training program at Virginia Western Community College.  Council authorized such an 
intern in 2012 and stated that any future extension of the intern program would need to 
be considered by Council.  The funds for this position have already been placed in the 
current budget, not to exceed $10,000.  Last year’s intern worked a total of 994.5 hours 
for the Town at a total cost of $8,565.  This experience reaped many benefits from 
participating in the program.  A major benefit of having an intern is providing coverage 
during vacations, sick leave and during periods of heavy workloads.  While an intern 
receives valuable training, it also helped the Waste Water Treatment Plant full-time staff 
stay up-to-date and sharp on their skills.  Staff requests approval to allow the Waste 
Water Treatment Plant to hire an intern in 2013 that is participating with Virginia 
Western Community College waste water training program, and under the same 
conditions of employment for the Town as in 2012.) 
 
The Superintendent of the Waste Water Treatment Plant came before Council 
explaining his reasons for wanting to hire another intern that is enrolled in the waste 
water training program at Virginia Western Community College (VWCC), with it 
basically being done the same way as it was approved by Council in 2012.  He further 
stated that when it was approved by Council in 2012, it helped a person get a job in that 
field of work.  He also stated the following: he has nothing negative to say about the 
program; the funding for the program is in next year’s budget; by hiring an intern, it 
helps keep his staff sharp, plus, they are helping someone also; and it helps with 
staffing during vacation time and when someone is needed when they become short-
handed for one reason or another.  He confirmed to Council that there would be no 
benefits package for the intern position. 
 
The Town Manager informed Council that they were very specific on staff getting 
Council approval before continuing the intern program; therefore, the Superintendent of 
the Waste Water Treatment Plant wanted to bring it back before Council for their 
approval to continue the program for 2013. 
 
There being no further comments, the Mayor entertained a motion. 
 
  Motion was made by Council Member Love for Council to allow the Superintendent 
of the Waste Water Treatment Plant to hire a person for the intern position if he so 
chooses, and for it not to exceed $10,000 with no benefits, with motion on the floor 
being seconded by Council Member Cundiff.  There being no discussion, let the record 
show that the motion on the floor passed unanimously by those present.  

 
 
COMMITTEE REPORTS 
 
Let the record show there were no committee reports at this time.   
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OTHER MATTERS, CONCERNS AND RISE ‘N SHINE APPEARANCES 
 
A. Referrals to Planning Commission from Town Council  

 
Let the record show there were no referrals at this time. 
 

B. Rise ‘N Shine Appearances 
 
Let the record show that the Town Manager appeared on the Rise ‘N Shine show this 
morning. 

 
 
COUNCIL CONCERNS 
 
Let the record show there were no Council concerns at this time. 
 
 
CLOSED MEETING 
 
Let the record show there were no Closed Meeting items at this time. 
 
 
ADJOURNMENT 
 
At 8:07 p.m., motion was made by Council Member Moyer to adjourn, seconded by Council 
Member Stockton and carried unanimously by those present. 
 
 
 
 

______________________________ 
Steven C. Angle, Mayor 

 
 
ATTEST: 
  
 
 
______________________________ 
Patricia H. Keatts/Town Clerk 
 
 
/phk 
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MONTHLY STAFF REPORT 
 
 
 
DATE: February 1,  2013 
TO: Rocky Mount Town Council 
FROM: Charles Robertson, Fire Chief 
DEPARTMENT:   Rocky Mount Fire Department 
MONTH: December  2012 
 

The Rocky Mount Fire Department answered a total of 37 calls for the month of 
December 2012.  There were 16 calls answered inside the Town limits and 21 calls 
answered in the County. 
 
There were a total of 197 man hours accumulated on these calls, with an average of 7.8 
members per call. 
 
There was a total of 1,348 miles traveled on all Fire Department vehicles, with a total of 
74 gallons of gasoline used, and a total of 122.5 gallons of diesel fuel used.  
 
There were six structure fires; seven woods and grass fires; 14 motor vehicle accidents; 
three smoke and odor removals; one control burn (false call); two assistance to the 
rescue squad; and four false alarms.  
 
During the month of December 2012, the department received extra training with the 
VDFP Program “Reading Smoke”, which was taught by instructor and retired Roanoke 
County Chief Steve Poff, for a total of 24 man hours.  
 
For the calendar year of 2012, the Fire Department answered an accumulated total of 
393 calls in both the Town and County, which represents approximately a 14% to 15% 
increase in call volume for the year.  Call volumes are seeming to trend higher each 
year.  
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MONTHLY STAFF REPORT 
 
 
 
DATE: February 4, 2013 
TO: Rocky Mount Town Council 
FROM: David R. Cundiff, Chief of Police 
DEPARTMENT:   Police Department 
MONTH: January 2013 
 
 
 
Two Patrol Officer’s started at Cardinal Criminal Justice Academy this month (Brooks & Lamy). 
 
One Patrol Officer started at Piedmont Criminal Justice Academy (Burgoyne). 
 
Investigations executed a number of search warrants for the month of January. 
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ROCKY MOUNT POLICE DEPARTMENT  ADM #1 
 MONTHLY REPORT TO COUNCIL 
 
 
DATE:  JANUARY 2013                                                  NOV                 DEC                  JAN 

 
TRAFFIC ARRESTS 72 75 80 

 
TRAFFIC WARNING 72 57 81 
 
CRIMINAL ARRESTS 38 33 41 

 
LEGAL DOCUMENTS; TRESPASS NOTICES 0 0 0 
 
JUVENILE REFERRALS P-UPS, ETC. 4 1 4 
 
ALARM RESPONSES 33 46 67 
 
ACCIDENTS INVESTIGATED 13 37 27 
 
INCIDENTS ADDRESSED 1481 1747 1981 
 
INCIDENTS, OFFENSES REPORTABLE 58 57 52 
 
BUSINESSES, RESIDENCES CHECKED 722 721 608 
 
DOORS, WINDOWS, ETC. UNSECURED 0 2 2 
 
MOTORIST AIDES 94 90 106 
 
BREAKING & ENTERING REPORTS 
 

0 3 2 

 
BREAKING & ENTERING WARRANTS 0 0 1 
 
FELONY WARRANTS 8 1 3 
 
GRAND LARCENY WARRANTS 0 0 0 
 
MISDEAMEANOR CRIMINAL WARRANTS 30 24 17 
 
UNIFORM TRAFFIC SUMMONS ISSUED 72 95 83 
 
DUI 4 6 3 

 
 
 
 

 
TRAFFIC ENFORCEMENT: 

 

◊ Moving and stationary radar: throughout the Town, Bernard Road, Greenview Drive, North & South Main 
Street, Grassy Hill Road, Tanyard Road, Pell Avenue,  State Street, Old Franklin Turnpike, Scuffling Hill 
Road, Glenwood Drive, Green Meadow Lane and Windy Lane. 

◊ There were 12 reportable accidents with 10 of the accidents on our public streets. 
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COMMUNITY OUTREACH: 

 

◊ Residential Foot Patrols: (210) Anderson Street, Ann Sink Street, Booker T. Washington, Candlewood 
Apartments, Circle Drive, Circle View Street, Claiborne Avenue, Cobb Street, Cornell Road, Dent Street, 
Diamond Avenue, East Church Street, East Court Street, East Street, Glen Meadow Drive, Grassy Hill Road,   
Green Meadow Lane, Greenview Drive, Greer Lane, Harvey Street, Hatcher Street, Highland Hills, Highview 
Terrace, Hilltop Drive, Knob Apartments, Law Street, Leanor Street, Luke Street, Mamie Avenue, Mary 
Coger Lane, Montview Avenue, Mountain View Drive, Musefield Road, North Main Street, Oak Street, Old 
Franklin Turnpike, Patterson Avenue, Pell Avenue, Pendleton Street, Perdue Lane, Randolph Street, 
Riverview Street, School Board Road, Scuffling Hill Road, South Main Street, Summit Drive, Sycamore 
Street, Taliaferro Street, Tanyard Road, Trail Drive, Windsor Drive, Wray’s Street and Wrays Chapel Road.  
 

◊ Business Foot Patrols:  (307) Aaron’s, ABC Store, Advance Auto, Angle Hardware, Applebee’s, Arby’s,  
BFMS, Bojangles, C Mart, Carter’s Jewelry, CATCE, China City, Christian Heritage Academy, Comfort Inn, 
Cook Out, CVS, Dairy Queen, DMV, Dollar General, Domino’s, Family Pharmacy, Farmer’s Market, Franklin 
County High School, Fleetwood Homes, Flora’s Funeral Home, Food Lion, Franklin Center, Franklin Health 
Care, Franklin Memorial Hospital, Franklin Outdoors, Franklin Street, Frank’s Pizza, Goodwill, Hardee’s, 
Hema’s, Holiday Inn Express, Hub Restaurant, Industrial Drive, Ippy’s, Kroger, Lee M. Waid, Little Ceasar’s, 
Los Tres Amigos, Lowes, Martinsville DuPont Credit Union, McDonald’s, ModuKraf, North Main Street, Pizza 
Hut, Pizza King, PlyGem, Quizno’s, Riverside Minute Market, Rocky Mount Bowling Center, Rocky Mount 
Elementary, Roses, School Board Road, Sheetz, Shell Station, Shoe Show, Step Inc, Subway, Trinity 
Missions, Trinity Packaging, Two By Two BBQ, Wal-Mart, Wendy’s and YMCA.  

 

 

 
 
 

 
MISCELLANEOUS: 

  

◊ January 10th, 2013 – VCIN Recertification at RMPD 

◊ January 25th, 2013 – Open Door “130 Diamond Avenue” 

◊ January 29th, 2013 – Provided security for “FCHS Basketball Game” 

◊ January 30th, 2013 – Open Door “CVS” 
 

 

 
 
 

 
TRAFFIC CONTROL UPDATES: 

 

◊ No new updates for this month. 
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INVESTIGATIONS: 

 

◊  New Criminal Investigations: 8 

◊  New Drug Investigations: 1 

◊  Cases Cleared: 8 

◊  Misdemeanor charges: 3 

◊  Felony Charges: 7 

◊  Pending Cases: 6 

◊  Child Abuse Cases: 2 
 
 
MEETINGS: 

◊  Visit local schools four days. 

◊  DEQ and Public Safety Meeting 

◊  EPA Meeting 

◊  LEPC Meeting 

◊  Franklin Center Meeting with Mrs. Hodges 

◊  Staff Meeting at RMPD 

◊  Martin Luther King Breakfast 

◊  DaPro Meeting 

◊  Meeting with Sheriff Overton 

◊  Meeting with EPA, DEQ, VDEM, Public Safety, Commonwealth Attorney, Town Mgr, Etc.  

◊  Meeting with Christian Heritage 

◊  FRESH Safe Alternative Meeting 

◊  FRESH Retreat 

◊  Meeting with US District Attorney 

◊  Environmental Case Brief 
 
 
TRAINING: 

◊  No training for month of January 
 
CLASSES TAUGHT: 

◊   No classes taught for month of January 
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CRIMINAL ARRESTS & LOCATIONS: 
 

 
Possession of Marijuana North Main Street (x 2) 
 
Possession of Marijuana School Board Road 
 
Possession of Oxycodone Franklin Street 
 
Possession of Drug Paraphernalia Franklin Street 
 
Possession of Drug Paraphernalia School Board Road 
 
Driving Under the Influence North Main Street (x 3) 
 
Drunk In Public Floyd Avenue 
 
Drunk In Public North Main Street 
 
Shoplifting Old Franklin Turnpike 
 
Shoplifting Tanyard Road 
 
Breaking & Entering Taliferro Street 
 
Breaking & Entering East Court Street (x 4) 
 
Vandalism East Court Street (x 4) 
 
Contribute to the Delinquency of a Minor East Court Street (x 3) 
 
Domestic Assault Cornell Road 
 
Domestic Assault Circle Drive 
 
Carrying a Concealed Weapon Old Franklin Turnpike 
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SPEEDING TICKETS ISSUED 

 
 
 

Pell Avenue (x 8) 
 
State Street (x 6) 
 
Tanyard Road (x 6) 
 
South Main Street (x 4) 
 
Franklin Street (x 2) 
 
East Court Street (x 2) 
 
North Main Street (x 2) 
 
Old Franklin Turnpike 
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MONTHLY STAFF REPORT 
 
 
 
DATE: February 5, 2013 
TO: Rocky Mount Town Council 
FROM: Cecil R. Mason, Public Works Director 
DEPARTMENT:   Public Works Department 
MONTH: January 2013 
 
 
1. Removed Christmas decorations. 

 
2. Swept streets:  January 7th, 8th, 30th, 31st. 

 
3. Cutting street right-of-ways. 

 
4. Two days of cleanup. 

 
5. Four days working with snow. 

 
6. Two days repairing sidewalk on Diamond Avenue. 

 
7. Four men working at office for four days. 

 
8. Four men hauling shot rock for two days. 

 
9. Three days reading meters. 

 
10. Replaced 3 each 3/4" meters. 

 
11. Repaired: 8” water line on Trail Drive 

  6” water line on East Court Street 
  6” water line on Montview Street 
 

12. Installed 3 each 2” meters and 1 each 3/4" meter at Lillie’s Leisure. 
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MONTHLY STAFF REPORT 
 
 
 
DATE: February 1, 2013 
TO: Rocky Mount Town Council 
FROM: Tim Burton 
DEPARTMENT:   WWTP 
MONTH: January 2013 
 
 
 
Average Daily Flow                                       0.960 mgd 
 
TSS Reduction                                               99 % 
                                            
BOD Reduction                                              99 % 
                                           
Leachate (F.C. Landfill)                                162,000 gallons 
                  
VPDES Violations                                          None 
                                       
Sludge (Land filled @ F.C.)                           63.97 Tons 
 
Rain Total         8.76 inches                     Snow Total        3.0 inches                      
 
 
 
 
 
 
Request:   None 
 
Respectfully Submitted, 
 
 
Timothy Burton  



Page 1 of 2 
 

MONTHLY STAFF REPORT 
 
 
DATE: February 1, 2013 
TO: Rocky Mount Town Council 
FROM: Bob Deitrich, Water Plant Superintendent 
DEPARTMENT:   Water 
MONTH: January 2013 
 
Operation and Production Summary: 
The actual water production time (filtering of water) for the entire month averaged 10.4 
hours per day which yielded approximately 750,000 gallons of water per day.   
 
Total Raw Water Pumped:    24.85 million gallons 
Total Drinking Water Produced:    23.17 million gallons  
Average Daily Production:     750,000 gallons per day  
Ave Percent of Production Capacity:   38% 
Flushing of Hydrants/Tanks: 5,000 gallons 
Plant Process Water:     614,000 gallons (finished water used by the plant) 
Bulk Water Sold @ WTP: None 
 
 
Operational Issues: 

• All routine monthly bacteriological samples were negative (no bacteria detected). 
All other routine samples continue to be within limits. 

• The electric bill jumped unexpectedly in January.  We will be reviewing operation 
procedures and checking the heating system to look for savings.   

 
  Repairs/Maintenance: 

• Rt. 220 North Tank is still out of service at this time, but the automatic valve has 
been repaired by Plant staff and a washout of the tank will be conducted in the 
next few weeks.   

• A filter valve controller failed causing us operational difficulties.  Lead time on a 
new valve was 3-4 weeks.  The new valve was finally delivered and installed by 
Plant staff.  Having the valve work properly should reduce the amount of water 
used for back-washing. 

• Our #2 flocculator mixer had a motor failure.  A local electrical contractor handled 
repairs.  Doing without the mixer for a week demonstrated how just how 
important it is to the process.    

 
 Miscellaneous: 

• Bob Deitrich and Jon Coleman recently passed the state exam and are now 
certified backflow device testers. 

 
Upcoming: 

• Soda Feeder Installation – waiting on delivery. 
• 220 N. Tank washout. 
• Replacement of the electrical controls is scheduled for the 3rd week of February. 
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Rocky Mount Water Dept. 
Monthly Report Summary – Attachment 1 
January 2013 
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ITEM(S) TO BE CONSIDERED UNDER:   
□ Hearing of Citizens □ Consent Item      X Old Business     □ New Business     

□ Committee Report □ Other     
 
 
FOR COUNCIL MEETING DATED: February 11, 2012 
 
 
STAFF MAKING 
REQUEST:  
 

 
Community Development 
Planning Commission 

  
 
BRIEF SUMMARY 
OF REQUEST: 
 

 
Returning to Council the Weed & Trash ordinance update 
referred to Planning Commission in November 2012 with 
updates reflecting a shortened time frame, stronger penalties 
and state code compliance. 
 

  
 
ACTION NEEDED: 
 

 
Consideration for approval. 

 
Attachment(s):  Yes 
 
FOLLOW-UP ACTION: 
(To be completed by Town Clerk) 
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MEMORANDUM 

 
To:  Mayor Angle & Town Council 
  C. James Ervin, Town Manager 
 
From:  Matthew C. Hankins 
  Assistant Town Manager 
 
Date:  February 6, 2013 
 
Re:  Planning Commission Recommendation on Weed & Trash Code Update 
 
Members of Council: 

Per your request, Planning Commission has reviewed and made recommendations 
to you regarding the Weed & Trash portion of Town Code. Your attorney worked with 
staff to prepare the ordinance, and the Planning Commission considered it last night. 

Planning Commission provided its input in December to shape this ordinance and 
after its review last night recommended by a vote of 6-0, with one member absent, 
that you adopt this ordinance. 

The ordinance you have before you to consider does not require a public hearing 
for you to implement it. Based on the advice of your attorney, you may consider it for 
adoption and approval tonight. 

This ordinance as prepared reduces the amount of time and notices required to 
deal with weed and trash complaints, changes the qualifications for being judged 
nuisances, changes the penalties for noncompliance and brings your code into line 
with state code. 

Changes are annotated in red on your copy of the ordinance, but here are the 
highlights: 

• Reduces the qualifying weed height to be determined a nuisance from 14 to 
10 inches. In our experience, this means that owners will have 
approximately two to three fewer weeks of growth before we consider a 
property to be a nuisance. 

• Increases the mowing buffer for large parcels (over one acre) from 5 feet to 
50 feet from every property line. Developed or developable lots over one 
acre would be required to be mowed back 50 feet from all property lines, 
not just from the right of way. 

TOWN OF ROCKY MOUNT 
345 DONALD AVE. 
ROCKY MOUNT, VIRGINIA  24151 
 
540.483.0907 
FAX :  540.483.8830 
 
E-MAIL: MHANKINS@ROCKYMOUNTVA.ORG 
WWW.ROCKYMOUNTVA.ORG 

TOWN COUNCIL 
STEVEN C. ANGLE, MAYOR 

GREGORY B. WALKER, VICE MAYOR 
 

BOBBY M. CUNDIFF           P. ANN LOVE 
JERRY W. GREER, SR.      BOBBY L. MOYER 

BILLIE W. STOCKTON 

 
MATTHEW C. HANKINS 

Assistant Town Manager 
Director, Community Development 
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• Brings civil and criminal penalties into line with state code, increasing both 
the amount of fines and the misdemeanor level (Class 4 to a Class 3). Gives 
the property owner(s) a stronger incentive to respond. 

• Decreases the owner’s time to act from 14 days to 7 days. In total, this cuts 
approximately one month from the waiting time a complainant would have 
waited in 2012. 

• Allows the town to send only one notice (or post the property once) 
between April and November; in the event of multiple offenses/complaints 
during that time, no additional notices will be sent, just a mowing crew. 

• Specifies the accounting for costs, and levies an administrative fee of $50. 
• Removes references to a post-abatement hearing. 

 
This ordinance represents a new approach to the way staff manages the complaint 

process, and shortening the process should both satisfy neighbors and increase the 
responsiveness of property owners. 

This will require changes to our record keeping, billing and management practices 
related to property maintenance complaints. In the near term, it is likely to increase 
the amount of mowing performed by the Public Works staff. Staff will solicit bids from 
mowing and landscaping contractors to perform the work in the event that mowing 
interferes with Public Works’ primary duties; however, we would use those 
contractors only as a last resort. 

I will work with my staff this week to develop a summary of the process to share 
with you on Monday night, along with some examples of how the new process will 
work. Your attorney will review the form notification we produce to ensure that our 
action will withstand court review in the event we pursue civil penalties or criminal 
charges. 

Staff strongly recommends approval of this action. 
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ITEM(S) TO BE CONSIDERED UNDER:   
□ Hearing of Citizens □ Consent Item      □ Old Business     X New Business     

□ Committee Report □ Other     
 
 
FOR COUNCIL MEETING DATED: February 11, 2013 
 
 
STAFF MAKING 
REQUEST:  
 

 
Linda Woody, Finance Director 
C. James Ervin, Town Manager 

  
 
BRIEF SUMMARY 
OF REQUEST: 
 

 
Deanna Cox of Robinson, Farmer, Cox Associates will be here 
to formally present the attached Comprehensive Annual 
Financial Report (CAFR) for the fiscal year ended June 30, 
2012. 
    

  
 
ACTION NEEDED: 
 

 
Acceptance of the CAFR. 

 
Attachment(s):  Yes 
 
FOLLOW-UP ACTION: 
(To be completed by Town Clerk) 
 
 
 
  
  



   

 
 
 
February 4, 2013 
 
Mayor and Council: 
 
Deanna Cox from Robinson, Farmer, Cox Associates will be here at 7:00 p.m. on Monday, 
February 11th for the formal presentation of the annual audit. 
 
She will be able to answer any questions you may have concerning the attached 
Comprehensive Annual Financial Report for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2012.  
 
The transmittal letter on page 4 provides an overview of the auditing process and an analysis of 
the financial condition of the Town.  The auditor’s opinion is on page 8 and the 3rd paragraph 
indicates an unqualified opinion (the highest opinion available).  The management’s discussion 
and analysis that begins on page 10 provides an overview of the Town’s financial information.   
 
At the bottom of page 18 (Exhibit 1 – Statement of Net Assets), you will see that “unrestricted 
net assets” or fund balance is $10,241,470 for the general and capital funds combined and a 
negative $1,514,916 for the utility fund.  There is a combined loss of $700,590 total fund 
balance from last fiscal year.  This is mostly from the purchase of the performance venue for 
$249,000 and Town expenditures of $592,000 for the Uptown project.  A 10 year history of fund 
balance is presented in Table 1 Net Assets by Component on page 70. 
 
The general fund had $464,148 more in revenues than expenditures in fiscal year 2012 as 
indicated about ¾ down the page on page 22 (Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and 
Changes in Fund Balance – Governmental Funds). 
 
The utility fund’s Statement of Revenues, Expenses, and Changes in Net Assets is on page 25 
and indicates (about ½ way down the page) an operating loss of $294,053 (compared to a loss 
of $193,708 the previous year).  As indicated on page 26 in the Statement of Cash Flows for the 
utility fund, there is a negative cash balance of $798,738 for fiscal year 2012 (as compared to a 
negative cash balance of $1,069,748 for fiscal year 2011).  Although the ending cash balance is 
still negative, the improved cash balance reflects reduced payments to vendors of $161,000 
during fiscal year 2012.   
 
If you have any questions or need more detail or explanation, I would be happy to assist you.  
Just let me know.  Thanks to sound fiscal policies, the Town continues to show a stable financial 
position poised with the ability to take advantage of growth opportunities as they are presented.  
 
Sincerely, 
Linda Woody 
Finance Director   
 

Town of Rocky Mount 
345 Donald Avenue 
Rocky Mount, Virginia  24151 
 
540.483.5243 
FAX 540.483.8830 
 
E-mail: lwoody@rockymountva.org 
www.rockymountva.org 
 

TOWN COUNCIL 
Steven C. Angle, Mayor 

Gregory B. Walker, Vice Mayor 
 

Bobby M. Cundiff           P. Ann Love 
Jerry W. Greer, Sr.        Bobby L. Moyer 

Billie W. Stockton 
 

Linda Woody, Finance Director 
Finance Department 
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December 19, 2012 
 
To the Honorable Mayor, Council Members, and Citizens of the Town of Rocky Mount: 
 
State Law requires that all local governments publish within six months of the close of each fiscal 
year a complete set of financial statements presented in conformity with generally accepted 
accounting principles (GAAP) and audited in accordance with generally accepted auditing 
standards by a firm of licensed certified public accountants.  Pursuant to that requirement, we 
hereby issue the comprehensive annual financial report of the Town of Rocky Mount for the fiscal 
year ended June 30, 2012. 
 
This report consists of management’s representations concerning the finances of the Town of 
Rocky Mount.  Consequently, management assumes full responsibility for the completeness and 
reliability of all the information presented in this report.  To provide a reasonable basis for making 
these representations, management of the Town of Rocky Mount has established a 
comprehensive internal control framework that is designed both to protect the government’s assets 
from loss, theft, or misuse, and to compile sufficient reliable information for the preparation of the 
Town of Rocky Mount’s financial statements in conformity with GAAP.  Because the cost of internal 
controls should not outweigh their benefits, the Town of Rocky Mount’s comprehensive framework 
of internal controls has been designed to provide reasonable rather than absolute assurance that 
the financial statements will be free from material misstatements.  As management, we assert that, 
to the best of our knowledge and belief, this financial report is complete and reliable in all material 
respects. 
 
The Town of Rocky Mount’s financial statements have been audited by Robinson, Farmer, Cox 
Associates, a firm of licensed certified public accountants.  The goal of the independent audit was 
to provide reasonable assurance that the financial statements of the Town of Rocky Mount for the 
fiscal year ended June 30, 2012, are free of material misstatement.  The independent audit 
involved examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the 
financial statements; assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by 
management; and evaluating the overall financial statement presentation.  The independent 
auditor concluded, based upon the audit, that there was a reasonable basis for rendering an 
unqualified opinion that the Town of Rocky Mount’s financial statements for the fiscal year ended 
June 30, 2012, are fairly presented in conformity with GAAP.  The independent auditor’s report is 
presented as the first component of the financial section of this report.   
 
GAAP requires management to provide a narrative introduction, overview, and analysis to 
accompany the basic financial statements in the form of Management’s Discussion and Analysis 
(MD&A).  This letter of transmittal is designed to complement MD&A and should be read in 
conjunction with it.  The Town’s MD&A can be found immediately following the report of the 
independent auditors. 
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Profile of the Government 
 
The Town of Rocky Mount, incorporated in 1873, is located in the rolling hills of the western Blue 
Ridge Mountains and serves as the seat of Franklin County’s government, service, and business 
center.  The Town of Rocky Mount currently occupies a land area of 6.4 square miles and boasts a 
population of approximately 4,800.  The Town of Rocky Mount is empowered to levy a property tax 
on both real and personal properties located within its boundaries.  It also is empowered by state 
statute to extend its corporate limits by annexation, which occurs periodically when deemed 
appropriate by the governing council.   
 
The Town of Rocky Mount has operated under the council-manager form of government since 
1989.  Policy-making and legislative authority are vested in a governing council consisting of the 
mayor and six other members.  The governing council is responsible, among other things, for 
passing ordinances, adopting the budget, appointing the Planning Commission, and hiring the 
government’s manager, attorney, and clerk.  The government’s manager is responsible for carrying 
out the policies and ordinances of the governing council, for overseeing the day-to-day operations 
of the government, and for appointing the heads of the various departments.  The council is 
elected at large.  The Town of Rocky Mount holds municipal elections in May of even-numbered 
years.  Council members serve four-year staggered terms, with three council members elected 
every two years.  The mayor is elected to serve a four-year term. 
 
The Town of Rocky Mount provides a full range of services, including police and volunteer fire 
protection; the construction and maintenance of streets, sidewalks, water and sewer lines, and 
other infrastructure; zoning and land use management; recreational parks; and community and 
cultural events.  The Town of Rocky Mount also provides water and wastewater services to both 
town and county residents and businesses.   
 
The annual budget serves as the foundation for the Town of Rocky Mount’s financial planning and 
control.  All departments of the Town of Rocky Mount are required to submit requests for 
appropriation to the government’s manager during the annual budget process.  The government’s 
manager uses these requests as the starting point for developing a proposed budget.  The Town 
Manager then presents this proposed budget to the Council for review by May 1.  The council is 
required to hold public hearings on the proposed budget and to adopt a final budget by no later 
than June 30, the close of the Town of Rocky Mount’s fiscal year.  The appropriated budget is 
prepared by fund, function (e.g. public safety), and department (e.g. police).  Budget-to-actual 
comparisons are provided in this report for each individual governmental fund for which an 
appropriated annual budget has been adopted.   
 
Factors Affecting Financial Condition 
 
The information presented in the financial statements is perhaps best understood when it is 
considered from the broader perspective of the specific environment within which the Town of 
Rocky Mount operates. 
 
Local economy.  After experiencing a period of economic downturn due to the loss of jobs in its 
traditional textile and furniture manufacturing industries, other long-term manufacturers within the 
Town have experienced some degree of stability during these declining economic times.  The 
Town continues to enjoy growth in the retail and service businesses that serve and are supported 
by town residents and county residents.  Residential growth continues with new single-family 
housing developments.  
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The Town is also mindful of how the slow-down in the local economy has affected its citizens.  
Accordingly, Town Council decreased the Town’s budget by 1% for fiscal year 2012 and presented 
no increases in taxes or fees to its citizens.  No fee increases for water production or sewer 
collection has taken effect since July 1, 2007.      
 
Long-term financial planning and economic improvement projects.  The Town of Rocky 
Mount continues to methodically plan for future growth by investing resources in infrastructure 
improvements and expansion.  The Town is vigorously pursuing the development of the Cox 
property for industrial clients.  The Town has completed the access road and utility line extensions 
and is now working on extending rail lines within the property.  The Uptown Revitalization project is 
complete and has improved the streetscape and redeveloped the uptown business district.     
        
The governing Council of the Town of Rocky Mount, in planning for future residential and 
commercial needs, continues to fund water and sewer line improvements and expansions within 
the Town’s utility system.  Due to the slow-down in the local economy, funding for fiscal year 2012 
and fiscal year 2013 have been scaled back.  Lilly’s Leisure, a 44-unit residential facility located 
just outside the Town limits on Diamond Avenue Extended, has connected to the Town’s water and 
sewer lines during the fiscal year 2013 construction.  
 
The Virginia Department of Transportation has begun the replacement of the Pigg River bridge on 
South Main Street.  This project is expected to take up to three years to complete.  The Town is 
working with state and federal agencies, in conjunction with this project, to improve safety around 
the Pigg River dam at Veteran’s Memorial Park.      
 
The Town of Rocky Mount is very excited to be an anchor on the Crooked Road - Virginia’s 
Heritage Music Trail.  It provides an opportunity to showcase the area’s cultural assets.  During 
fiscal year 2012 Town Council purchased the old Lynch Hardware Building in downtown Rocky 
Mount to house a community cultural venue to better showcase the talents of local citizens and 
activities associated with the Crooked Road’s musical heritage and the ‘Round the Mountain’s 
artesian heritage.  Conceptual architectural plans are complete and funding is being sought from 
state and federal agencies and foundations as well as using historic tax credits to fund the 
renovation of the building.  Bid documents are almost complete and ready to be released in early 
calendar year 2013.  
 
Cash management policies and practices.  Cash temporarily idle during the year was invested 
in obligations of the U.S. Treasury and the State Treasurer’s investment pool.  The maturities of 
the investments range from 1 year to 5 years.  The average yield on investments was 1.4% for the 
government amid national declining rates.  Investment income is affected by prevailing interest 
rates and the appreciation or depreciation in the fair value of investments.  The decreases in 
interest rates during fiscal year 2011 and 2012, however, do not necessarily represent trends that 
will continue on investments the government intends to hold to maturity.  The Town used $2 million 
in investments during fiscal year 2011 to pay off a utility line bond with a 4.1% interest rate with 20 
years life remaining.  In fiscal year 2011, the Town also refinanced a 4.5% bond that built the 
Emergency Services Building after 10 years.  The new bond has a 10 year life with a 3.7% interest 
rate.   
       
Risk management.  The government is a member of the Virginia Municipal Liability Pool which is 
open to Virginia local political subdivisions.  Additional information on the Town of Rocky Mount’s 
risk management activity can be found in Note 13 of the notes to the financial statements. 
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Pension and other postemployment benefits.   The Town of Rocky Mount provides pension 
benefits for its employees through a state-wide plan managed by the Virginia Retirement System.  
The Town of Rocky Mount has no obligation in connection with employee benefits offered through 
this plan beyond its annual contractual payment to the Virginia Retirement System. 
 
Every two years, an independent actuary engaged by the pension plan calculates the amount of 
the annual contribution that the Town of Rocky Mount must make to the pension plan to ensure 
that the plan will be able to fully meet its obligations to retired employees on a timely basis.  As a 
matter of policy, the Town of Rocky Mount fully funds each year’s annual required contribution to 
the pension plan as determined by the actuary.  As a result of the Town of Rocky Mount’s 
conservative funding policy, the Town of Rocky Mount has succeeded as of June 30, 2011, in 
funding 72.77% of the present value of the projected benefits earned by employees.  Any 
remaining unfunded amount would be systematically funded over 20 years or less, as part of the 
annual required contribution calculated by the actuary. 
 
The Town of Rocky Mount also provides post-retirement health and dental care benefits for certain 
retirees and their spouses.  Participants must pay 100% of the premium. 
 
Additional information on the Town of Rocky Mount’s pension arrangements and post-employment 
benefits can be found in Notes 9 and 10 in the notes to the financial statements. 
 
Awards and Acknowledgements 
 
The Government Finance Officers Association (GFOA) awards a Certificate of Achievement for 
Excellence in Financial Reporting for a locality’s comprehensive annual financial report (CAFR).  In 
order to be awarded a Certificate of Achievement, the government must publish an easily readable 
and efficiently organized CAFR.  The report must also satisfy GAAP and applicable legal 
requirements.  We believe that our current CAFR will meet the Certificate of Achievement 
Program’s requirements. 
 
The preparation of this report would not have been possible without the efficient and dedicated 
services of the entire staff of the finance and manager’s offices as well as the Town’s department 
heads.  We would like to express our appreciation to all members of the Town staff who assisted 
and contributed to the preparation of this report.  Credit also must be given to the Mayor and 
Council for their unfailing support for maintaining the highest standard of professionalism in the 
management of the Town of Rocky Mount’s finances. 
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FINANCIAL SECTION 



ROBINSON, FARMER, COX ASSOCIATES 
 CERTIFIED PUBLIC ACCOUNTANTS A PROFESSIONAL LIMITED LIABILITY COMPANY 

 
 Independent Auditors’ Report 
 
THE HONORABLE MEMBERS OF TOWN COUNCIL 
TOWN OF ROCKY MOUNT, VIRGINIA 
 
We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the governmental activities, the 
business-type activities, and each major fund of the Town of Rocky Mount, Virginia, as of and for the 
year ended June 30, 2012, which collectively comprise the Town’s basic financial statements as 
listed in the table of contents.  These financial statements are the responsibility of the Town of 
Rocky Mount, Virginia’s management.  Our responsibility is to express opinions on these financial 
statements based on our audit.  The prior year comparative information has been derived from the 
Town of Rocky Mount, Virginia’s 2011 financial statements and in our report dated November 11, 
2011, we expressed an unqualified opinion on the financial statements. 
 
 
We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United 
States of America; the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing 
Standards, issued by the Comptroller General of the United States; and the Specifications for Audits 
of Counties, Cities, and Towns, issued by the Auditor of Public Accounts of the Commonwealth of 
Virginia.  Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance 
about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement.  An audit includes 
examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial 
statements.  An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and the significant 
estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall basic financial statement 
presentation.  We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinions. 
 
In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the 
respective financial position of the governmental activities, the business-type activities, and each 
major fund of the Town of Rocky Mount, Virginia, as of June 30, 2012, and the respective changes in 
financial position and cash flows, where applicable, thereof for the year then ended in conformity 
with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.  
 
In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued our report dated November 
2, 2012 on our consideration of the Town of Rocky Mount, Virginia’s internal control over financial 
reporting and on our tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, 
and grant agreements and other matters.  The purpose of that report is to describe the scope of our 
testing of internal control over financial reporting and compliance and the results of that testing, 
and not to provide an opinion on internal control over financial reporting or on compliance.  That 
report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with Government Auditing Standards 
and should be considered in assessing the results of our audit. 
 
Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require that the 
management’s discussion and analysis, budgetary comparison information, and schedules of pension 
and OPEB funding progress be presented to supplement the basic financial statements.  Such 
information, although not a part of the basic financial statements, is required by the Governmental 
Accounting Standards Board, who considers it to be an essential part of financial reporting for 
placing the basic financial statements in an appropriate operational, economic, or historical context.  
We have applied certain limited procedures to the management’s discussion and analysis and 
schedules of funding progress in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United 
States of America, which consisted of inquiries of management about the methods of preparing the 
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information and comparing the information for consistency with management’s responses to our 
inquiries, the basic financial statements, and other knowledge we obtained during our audit of the 
basic financial statements.  We do not express an opinion or provide any assurance on the 
management’s discussion and analysis and schedules of funding progress because the limited 
procedures do not provide us with sufficient evidence to express an opinion or provide any 
assurance.  The budgetary comparison information has been subjected to the auditing procedures 
applied in the audit of the basic financial statements and, in our opinion, is fairly stated in all 
material respects in relation to the basic financial statements taken as a whole.   
 
Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming an opinion on the financial statements that 
collectively comprise the Town of Rocky Mount’s financial statements as a whole.  The supporting 
schedules and statistical section are presented for purposes of additional analysis and are not a 
required part of the financial statements. The supporting schedules are the responsibility of 
management and were derived from and relate directly to the underlying accounting and other 
records used to prepare the financial statements.  The information has been subjected to the 
auditing procedures applied in the audit of the financial statements and certain additional 
procedures, including comparing and reconciling such information directly to the underlying 
accounting and other records used to prepare the financial statements or to the financial statements 
themselves, and other additional procedures in accordance with auditing standards generally 
accepted in the United States of America.  In our opinion, the information is fairly stated in all 
material respects in relation to the financial statements as a whole.  The statistical section has not 
been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the basic financial statements, and 
accordingly, we do not express an opinion or provide any assurance on it.   
 

 
Blacksburg, Virginia 
November 2, 2012 
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(Continued) 3a 
 

MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 
 

 

  As management of  the Town of Rocky Mount, Virginia  (the  “Town”), we offer  readers of  the 

Town’s financial statements this narrative overview and analysis of the financial activities of the Town 

for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2012.   We encourage readers to consider the  information presented 

here  in  conjunction with  additional  information  that we  have  furnished  in  our  letter  of  transmittal, 

which can be found on pages iii through vi of this report. 

 

Financial Highlights 
 

 The total assets of the Town exceeded its liabilities at the close of the most recent fiscal year 
by $31,487,473 (net assets).  Of this amount, $8,726,554 (unrestricted net assets) may be used 
to meet the Town’s ongoing obligations to citizens and creditors. 

 The Town’s total net assets decreased by $250,064.  This decrease is due to the purchase of a 
building to house the Town’s performance venue as part of The Crooked Road Heritage Trail 
for $249,000, and the net $173,200  invested  in the Uptown Revitalization Project during the 
fiscal year.   

 As of the close of the current fiscal year, the Town’s governmental funds reported an ending 
fund balance of $10,547,431, a decrease of $677,522 in comparison with the prior year.  100% 
of  the  Town’s  fund  balance  constitutes  an  unassigned  fund  balance, which  is  available  for 
spending at the government’s discretion. (GASB 54) 

 

Overview of the Financial Statements 

 

This  discussion  and  analysis  is  intended  to  serve  as  an  introduction  to  the  Town’s  basic  financial 

statements.    The  Town’s  basic  financial  statements  comprise  three  components:  1)  government‐wide 

financial statements, 2) fund  financial statements, and 3) notes  to  the  financial statements.   This  report 

also contains other supplementary information in addition to the basic financial statements themselves. 

 

Government‐wide Financial Statements – The government‐wide  financial  statements are designed  to 
provide readers with a broad overview of the Town’s finances,  in a manner similar to a private‐sector 
business. 
 

The  statement of net assets presents  information on all of  the Town’s assets and  liabilities, with  the 
difference between the two reported as net assets.  Over time, increases or decreases in net assets may 
serve as a useful indicator of whether the financial position of the Town is improving or deteriorating. 
 

The  statement  of  activities  presents  information  showing  how  the  government’s  net  assets  changed 
during  the most  recent  fiscal year.   All  changes  in net assets are  reported as  soon as  the underlying 
event giving rise to the change occurs, regardless of the  timing of related cash  flows.   Thus, revenues 
and expenses are reported in this statement for some items that will result only in cash flows in future 
fiscal periods (e.g., uncollected taxes and earned but unused vacation leave). 
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(Continued) 3d 
 

Overview of the Financial Statements (Continued) 
 

Government‐wide Financial Statements (Continued) 
 
Both of the government‐wide financial statements distinguish functions of the Town that are principally supported 
by  taxes  and  intergovernmental  revenues  (governmental  activities)  from  other  functions  that  are  intended  to 
recover  all or  a  significant portion of  their  costs  through user  fees  and  charges  (business‐type  activities).    The 
governmental  activities  of  the  Town  include  general  government,  public  safety,  public  works,  community 
development, parks, recreation and cultural, and non‐departmental.  The business‐type activities of the Town are 
the water and wastewater departments. 
 

Fund  Financial  Statements  –  A  fund  is  a  grouping  of  related  accounts  that  is  used  to maintain  control  over 

resources  that have been  segregated  for  specific  activities or objectives.    The  Town,  like other  state  and  local 

governments,  uses  fund  accounting  to  ensure  and  demonstrate  compliance  with  finance‐related  legal 

requirements.    All  of  the  funds  of  the  Town  can  be  divided  into  two  categories:  governmental  funds  and 

proprietary funds. 

 

Governmental Funds – Governmental  funds are used  to account  for essentially  the same  functions  reported as 

governmental  activities  in  the  government‐wide  financial  statements.    However,  unlike  the  government‐wide 

financial  statements,  governmental  fund  financial  statements  focus  on  near‐term  inflows  and  outflows  of 

spendable resources, as well as on balances of spendable resources available at the end of the fiscal year.   Such 

information may be useful in evaluating a government’s near‐term financing requirements. 

 

Because the focus of governmental funds is narrower than that of the government‐wide financial statements, it is 

useful  to  compare  the  information  presented  for  governmental  funds with  similar  information  presented  for 

governmental activities in the government‐wide financial statements.  By doing so, readers may better understand 

the  long‐term  impact of  the government’s near‐term  financing decisions.   Both  the governmental  fund balance 

sheet and the governmental  fund statement of revenues, expenditures, and changes  in fund balances provide a 

reconciliation to facilitate this comparison between governmental funds and governmental activities. 

 

The Town adopts annual appropriated budgets  for  its general and capital project  funds.   Budgetary comparison 

statements have been provided  for  the general  fund and capital project  funds  to demonstrate compliance with 

these budgets. 

 

Proprietary Funds – The Town maintains one type of proprietary  fund.   Enterprise  funds are used  to report  the 

same functions presented as business‐type activities in the government‐wide financial statements.  The Town uses 

an enterprise fund to account for its water and wastewater departments. 

 

Proprietary funds provide the same type of information as the government‐wide financial statements, only in more 

detail.    The  proprietary  fund  financial  statements  provide  separate  information  for  the water  and wastewater 

departments. 
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(Continued) 4d 
 

Overview of the Financial Statements (Continued) 
 

Government‐wide Financial Statements (Continued) 
 
Notes  to  the  Financial  Statements  –  The  notes  provide  additional  information  that  is  essential  to  a  full 

understanding of the data provided in the government‐wide and fund financial statement.  

 

Other  information  –  In  addition  to  the  basic  financial  statements  and  accompanying  notes,  this  report  also 

presents  certain  required  supplementary  information.    This  information  further  explains  and  supports  the 

information in the financial statements. 

 
Government‐wide Financial Analysis 
 

As noted earlier, net assets may serve over time as a useful indicator of a government’s financial position.  In the 

case of the Town, assets exceeded liabilities by $31,487,473 at the close of the most recent fiscal year. 

 

By far the largest portion of the Town’s net assets, $22,480,901 reflects its investment in capital assets (e.g., land, 

buildings,  infrastructure, machinery,  and  equipment),  less  any  related  outstanding  debt  used  to  acquire  those 

assets that are still outstanding.  The Town uses these capital assets to provide services to citizens; consequently, 

these assets are not available for future spending.  Although the Town’s investment in its capital assets is reported 

net of related debt, it should be noted that the resources needed to repay this debt must be provided from other 

sources, since the capital assets themselves cannot be used to liquidate these liabilities. 

  The Town’s Net Assets
 

    Governmental Business‐Type  
    Activities  Activities Total 
     

    2012    2011 2012 2011 2012    2011
 

                
Current and other assets   $ 10,791,495   $ 12,741,978 $ 279,991 $ 1,484,864 $ 11,071,486   $ 14,226,842
Capital assets      15,466,135     15,164,254 13,938,929 14,404,455 29,405,064     29,568,709
               
        Total assets      25,466,135     27,906,232 14,218,920 15,889,319 40,476,550     43,795,551
               
Long‐term liabilities               
  Outstanding      2,710,086     3,115,658 2,155,537 4,712,413 4,865,623     7,828,071
Other liabilities      537,737     1,548,009 3,585,717 2,535,325 4,123,454     4,083,334
               
        Total liabilities      2,982,682     4,663,667 5,974,289 7,247,738 8,989,077     11,911,405
               
Net assets               
  Invested in capital                
    assets, net of               
      related debt      12,768,337     12,211,626 9,712,564 9,791,905 22,480,901     22,003,531
  Unrestricted      10,241,470     11,030,939 (1,234,898) 1,150,324 9,006,572     9,880,615
               
        Total net assets   $ 23,009,807   $ 23,242,565 $ 8,477,666 $ 8,641,581 $ 31,487,473   $ 31,884,146
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(Continued) 5d 
 

Government‐wide Financial Analysis (Continued) 

 

  Unrestricted  net  assets  of  $8,726,554 may  be  used  to meet  the  government’s  ongoing  obligations  to 

citizens and creditors.   At the end of the current fiscal year, the Town  is able to report positive balances  in both 

categories of net assets. 

 

Governmental activities – Governmental activities decreased the Town’s net assets by $240,271.   

 

Business‐type activities – Business‐type activities decreased the Town’s net assets by $9,793.   

 

  The Town’s Changes in Net Assets
 

  Governmental Business‐Type  
  Activities Activities Total 

 

  2012    2011 2012 2011 2012    2011
 

Revenues             

  Program revenues             

    Charges for services  $  141,744   $  153,057 $ 1,777,053 $ 1,776,905 $ 1,918,797   $  1,929,962

    Operating grants and             

      contributions    1,439,839     1,587,192 ‐     ‐     1,439,839     1,587,192

    Capital grants and             

      contributions    156,064     651,748 ‐     ‐     156,064     651,748

  General revenues             

    Property taxes    836,746     818,866 ‐     ‐     836,746     818,866

    Other taxes    2,884,666     2,545,225 ‐     ‐     2,884,666     2,545,225

    Intergovernmental              

      revenue unrestricted    255,227     266,795 4,000 25,000    259,227     291,795

    Investment earnings    81,198     320,196 18      ‐     81,216     320,196

  Other    32,619     1,094,702 41,166 49,961 73,785     1,114,663

             
        Total revenues    5,828,103     6,676,174 1,822,237 2,613,473 7,650,340     9,289,647

             
Expenses             

  General government    1,310,661     174,544 ‐     ‐     1,310,661     174,544

  Public safety    2,012,658     2,157,429 ‐     ‐     2,012,658     2,157,429

  Public works    1,538,835     1,555,182 ‐     ‐     1,538,835     1,555,182

  Parks, recreation, and             

    cultural    54,320     112,286 ‐     ‐     54,320     112,286

  Community development    581,132     186,118 ‐     ‐     581,132     186,118

  Interest on long‐term debt    116,630     185,382 ‐     ‐     116,630     185,382

  Water and wastewater    ‐         ‐     2,286,168 2,393,343 2,286,168     2,393,343

             
        Total expenses    5,614,236     4,370,941 2,286,168 2,393,343 7,900,404     6,764,284

             
Increase (decrease) in net 

  assets before transfers    213,867     3,066,840    (463,931)    (441,477)   (250,064)    2,625,363 

             
Transfers    (454,138)    (761,607) 454,138 761,607 ‐         ‐    

             
Change in net assets  $  (240,271)  $  2,305,233 $ (9,793) $ 320,130 $ (250,064)  $  2,625,363
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(Continued) 3e 
 

Government‐wide Financial Analysis (Continued) 
 

Expenses and Program Revenues – Governmental Activities 

 
 
Revenues by Source – Governmental Activities 
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Financial Analysis of the Government’s Funds 

 

As  noted  earlier,  the  Town  uses  fund  accounting  to  ensure  and  demonstrate  compliance with 

finance‐related legal requirements. 

 

Governmental  funds – The  focus of  the Town’s governmental  funds  is  to provide  information on near‐

term  inflows, outflows,  and balances  spendable  resources.    Such  information  is useful  in  assessing  the 

Town’s financing requirements.  In particular, unreserved fund balance may serve as a useful measure of a 

government’s net resources available for spending at the end of the fiscal year.  

 

As of the end of the current fiscal year, the Town’s governmental funds reported combined ending 

fund balances of $10,547,431, a decrease of $677,522  in comparison with  the prior year. One hundred 

percent of  the $10,547,431 constitutes an assigned  fund balance, which  is available  for spending at  the  

government’s discretion.   

 

  The general fund is the chief operating fund of the Town.  At the end of the current fiscal year, the 

total fund balance of the general fund was $11,323,032.   As a measure of the general fund’s  liquidity,  it 

may be useful  to  compare both  the unreserved  fund balance and  the  total  fund balance  to  total  fund 

expenditures.  The unreserved fund balance represents 201% of total general fund expenditures. 

 

The  fund balance of  the Town’s general  fund decreased by $582,209 during  the  fiscal year.   The key 

factor  to  this decrease  is a  transfer  from  the general  fund  to  the capital projects  fund of $592,219  to 

cover the Town’s share of the Uptown Revitalization Project expenses for fiscal year 2012.   

 

The fund balance of the Town’s capital projects fund decreased by $95,313 during the year.  The key factor 

to this decrease is from the Uptown Revitalization project which is on a reimbursement basis. 

 

Proprietary  funds  –  The  Town’s  proprietary  fund  provides  the  same  type  of  information  found  in  the 

government‐wide financial statements, but in more detail. 

 

Unrestricted net assets of  the water and wastewater departments at  the end of  the year amounted  to 

$(1,514,916).  The key factor in this decrease is the use of funds last fiscal year to retire a $2,010,000 bond.  

The total increase in net assets was ($9,793). 
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General Fund Budgetary Highlights 
 

There was  an  increase  of  $33,904  and  $393,183  between  the  original  budget  and  the  final  amended 
budget  for  both  revenues  and  expenditures,  respectively.    This  was  due  to  the  receipt  and  related 
expenditure  of  $341,913  in  carry‐over  funds  from  the  previous  year  to  complete  projects  for  the  fire 
department and  the streets department, $97,000  for  the stabilization of  the Furnace Creek bank at  the 
Veteran’s Memorial Park, and $50,000 for two school resource officers from DCJS.  
 
There were a few significant variances between the final budget and the actual final results for the year 

including the over‐spending in the police department for fuel, vehicle expense, and training.   

 

Capital Asset and Debt Administration 
 

Capital assets – The Town’s investment in capital assets for its governmental and business‐type activities  

as of June 30, 2012, amounts to $29,405,064 (net of accumulated depreciation).  This investment in capital 

assets  includes  land, buildings, and  improvements,  infrastructure, machinery and equipment.   The  total 

increase in the Town’s investment in capital assets for the current fiscal year was 8% (a 25% increase for 

governmental activities and a 30% decrease  for business‐type activities).   Additional  information on  the 

Town’s capital assets can be found in Note 7 of this report.  

 

Major capital asset events during the current fiscal year included the following: 

Uptown Revitalization $592,219 

Purchase of building for a performance venue $248,922 

 

  The Town’s Capital Assets 
 

  Governmental Business‐Type  
  Activities Activities   Total

 

  2012  2011  2012  2011    2012  2011 
 

Land  $  2,626,168  $ 2,621,168  $ 189,454  $ 189,454   $  2,815,622  $ 2,810,622 

Buildings and                           

  improvements    7,153,999    6,876,040    ‐        ‐         7,153,999    6,876,040 

Public domain                          

  infrastructure    11,463,782    8,328,182    ‐        ‐         11,463,782    8,328,182 

Distribution/transmissio                         

  Systems    ‐        ‐        22,292,299    22,235,414     22,292,299    22,235,414 

Water and                          

  wastewater plants    ‐        ‐        5,704,808    5,704,808     5,704,808    5,704,808 

Machinery  and  4,489,146    4,246,390    870,336    662,131     5,359,489    4,908,521 

Construction in progress   ‐    2,634,816    ‐                ‐     ‐    2,634,816 

Accumulated    (10,266,960)   (9,542,342)   (15,117,968)   (14,387,352)    (25,384,928)   (23,929,694)

      Total  $  15,466,135  $ 15,164,254  $ 14,404,455  $ 14,404,455   $  29,405,064  $ 29,568,709 
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Long‐term debt – At the end of the current fiscal year, the Town had total debt outstanding of $6,857,068.  

Of  this amount, $5,382,068 comprises debt backed by  the  full  faith and  credit of  the government, and 

$1,475,000 is related to notes payable. 

 

  The Town’s Outstanding Debt 

  General Obligation and Notes Payable 
 

  Governmental Business‐Type  
  Activities Activities   Total

 

  2012  2011 2012 2011   2012  2011
 

General obligation  $  ‐     $ ‐     $ 2,931,568 $ 3,576,899  $ 2,931,568  $ 3,576,899
Revenue bonds    1,171,800 1,196,100 998,200 1,018,900    2,170,000  2,215,000
Notes payable    1,475,000 1,640,000 ‐     ‐        1,475,000  1,640,000
Capital Lease    ‐     ‐     280,500 ‐        280,500  ‐    

  $ 2,646,800 $ 2,836,100 $ 4,210,268 $ 4,595,799  $ 6,857,068  $ 7,431,899

 

 

The  Town’s  total  debt  decreased  by  $574,831  (8%)  during  the  fiscal  year  primarily  from  retiring  the 

principal portion on existing debt.  Additional information on the Town’s long‐term debt can be found in 

Note 8 of this report. 

 
Economic Factors and Next Year’s Budgets and Rates 
 

The unemployment rate for Franklin County (no statistics are available for the Town individually) as of 

June 30, 2012 is 6.2%, which is a decrease from the annual rate of 8% a year ago according to the 

Virginia Employment Commission as reported in the Roanoke Times.  The state’s average 

unemployment rate as of June 30, 2012 is 6.0% and the national average rate as of June 30, 2012 is 

8.4%.  The occupancy rate of the Town’s central business district continues to remain high. 

Inflationary trends in the region compare favorably to national indices. 

 

Water consumption has declined slightly this fiscal year mostly due to conservation efforts by both 

residents and industries.   

 

Requests for Information 
 

This financial report is designed to provide a general overview of the Town’s finances for all those with an 

interest in the government’s finances.  Questions concerning any of the information provided in this report 

or  requests  for  additional  financial  information  should  be  addressed  to  the  Finance Director,  Town  of 

Rocky Mount, 345 Donald Avenue, Rocky Mount, Virginia 24151. 
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Basic Financial Statements 



Exhibit 1

Governmental Business-type
(For comparative 

purposes only)

Activities Activities 2012 2011
ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents 2,443,110$         29,275$             2,472,385$         2,973,407$             
Cash and cash equivalents, restricted -                        280,018             280,018             356,642                 
Investments 7,460,822          -                        7,460,822          8,097,549              
Receivables (net of allowance for uncollectibles):

Taxes receivable 49,994               -                        49,994               49,073                   
Accounts receivable 238,186             160,737             398,923             553,600                 

Internal balances 233,035             (233,035)            -                        -                            
Due from other governmental units 334,242             -                        334,242             649,089                 
Inventories -                        42,996               42,996               45,521                   
Prepaid expenses -                        -                        -                        12,146                   
Deferred charges 32,106               -                        32,106               
Capital assets (net of accumulated depreciation):

Land 2,626,168          189,454             2,815,622          2,810,622              
Buildings and improvements 4,332,357          348,479             4,680,836          5,946,545              
Machinery and equipment 1,837,455          1,543,236          3,380,691          2,014,844              
Infrastructure 6,670,155          11,857,760         18,527,915         16,161,882             
Construction in progress -                        -                        -                        2,634,816              

Total assets 26,257,630$       14,218,920$       40,476,550$       42,305,736$           

LIABILITIES
Accounts payable 147,332$            213,656$            360,988$            554,199$               
Reconciled overdraft -                        1,108,031          1,108,031          1,805,269              
Accrued liabilities 30,611               8,606                 39,217               114,616                 
Customers' deposits -                        29,275               29,275               27,000                   
Accrued interest payable 47,070               34,942               82,012               92,435                   
Long-term liabilities:

Due within one year 312,724             761,027             1,073,751          912,021                 
Due in more than one year 2,710,086          3,585,717          6,295,803          6,916,050              

Total liabilities 3,247,823$         5,741,254$         8,989,077$         10,421,590$           

NET ASSETS
Invested in capital assets, net of related debt 12,768,337$       9,712,564$         22,480,901$       22,100,398$           
Restricted for:

Debt service -                        280,018             280,018             356,642                 
Unrestricted 10,241,470         (1,514,916)         8,726,554          9,427,106              

Total net assets 23,009,807$       8,477,666$         31,487,473$       31,884,146$           

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement.

Totals

Town of Rocky Mount, Virginia
Statement of Net Assets

June 30, 2012

Primary Government
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Exhibit 3

(For Comparative 
Purposes Only)

General Capital Projects 2012 2011

ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents 2,765,423$         (322,313)$           2,443,110$      2,845,620$           
Cash held for others -                         -                        -                     1,740                   
Investments 7,460,822           -                        7,460,822       8,097,549             
Receivables (net of allowance

for uncollectibles):
Taxes receivable 49,994                -                        49,994            49,073                  
Accounts receivable 227,022              11,164               238,186          229,668                

Due from other funds 861,425              -                        861,425          861,425                
Due from other governmental units 142,146              192,096              334,242          647,496                
Prepaid items -                         -                        -                     11,147                  

Total assets 11,506,832$        (119,053)$           11,387,779$    12,743,718$         

LIABILITIES AND FUND BALANCES
Liabilities:

Accounts payable 119,174$            28,158$              147,332$         523,707$              
Reconciled overdraft -                         -                        -                     251,092                
Amounts due to others -                         -                        -                     1,740                   
Accrued payroll and related liabilities 30,611                -                        30,611            88,768                  
Due to other funds -                         628,390              628,390          628,390                
Deferred revenue 34,015                -                        34,015            32,581                  

Total liabilities 183,800$            656,548$            840,348$         1,526,278$           

Fund balances:
Unassigned, reported in:

General fund 11,323,032$        -$                      11,323,032$    11,897,728$         
Capital projects funds -                         (775,601)            (775,601)         (680,288)               
Total fund balances 11,323,032$        (775,601)$           10,547,431$    11,217,440$         
Total liabilities and fund balances 11,506,832$        (119,053)$           11,387,779$    12,743,718$         

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement.

Town of Rocky Mount, Virginia

Governmental Funds
Totals

June 30, 2012
Governmental Funds

Balance Sheet
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Exhibit 4

Amounts reported for governmental activities in the statement of net assets are different because:

Total fund balances per Exhibit 3 - Balance Sheet - Governmental Funds 10,547,431$     

Capital assets used in governmental activities are not financial resources and, therefore,
are not reported in the funds. 15,466,135       

Other long-term assets are not available to pay for current-period expenditures and,
therefore, are deferred in the funds.  34,015             

Long-term liabilities, including bonds payable, are not due and payable in the current
period and, therefore, are not reported in the funds. (3,037,774)       

Net assets of governmental activities 23,009,807$     

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement.

Town of Rocky Mount, Virginia
Reconciliation of the Balance Sheet of Governmental Funds

To the Statement of Net Assets
June 30, 2012
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Exhibit 5

(For Comparative 
Purposes Only)

General Capital Projects 2012 2011
REVENUES
General property taxes 835,312$              -$                      835,312$         841,723$              
Other local taxes 2,884,666            -                        2,884,666        2,545,225             
Permits, privilege fees, and regulatory licenses 5,945                   -                        5,945              14,788                  
Fines and forfeitures 28,467                 -                        28,467             32,263                  
Revenue from the use of money and property 81,198                 -                        81,198             320,196                
Charges for services 107,332               -                        107,332           106,006                
Miscellaneous 30,481                 2,138                 32,619             396,927                
Contributions 156,064              156,064           -                          
Recovered costs 613                      -                        613                 13,868                  
Intergovernmental revenues:

Commonwealth 1,695,066            -                        1,695,066        2,025,482             
Federal -                          -                        -                     589,323                

Total revenues 5,669,080$           158,202$            5,827,282$      6,885,801$           

EXPENDITURES
Current:

General government administration 824,164$              -$                      824,164$         581,529$              
Public safety 1,764,573            -                        1,764,573        2,239,784             
Public works 1,457,358            -                        1,457,358        1,308,836             
Parks, recreation, and cultural 69,802                 -                        69,802             107,660                
Community development 374,620               -                        374,620           271,900                
Nondepartmental 398,734               -                        398,734           201,300                

Capital outlay -                          845,734              845,734           1,817,788             
Debt service:

Principal retirement 189,300               -                        189,300           1,666,248             
Interest and other fiscal charges 126,381               -                        126,381           167,135                

Total expenditures 5,204,932$           845,734$            6,050,666$      8,362,180$           

Excess (deficiency) of revenues over
(under) expenditures 464,148$              (687,532)$           (223,384)$        (1,476,379)$          

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES)
Transfers in -$                        592,219$            592,219$         -$                         
Transfers out (1,046,357)           -                        (1,046,357)       (761,607)               
Issuance of general obligation bonds -                          -                        -                     1,640,000             
Insurance recovery -                          -                        -                     447,775                
Other -                          -                        -                     250,000                

Total other financing sources (uses) (1,046,357)$         592,219$            (454,138)$        1,576,168$           

Net change in fund balances (582,209)$            (95,313)$            (677,522)$        99,789$                
Fund balances - beginning,as restated 11,905,241           (680,288)            11,224,953      11,117,651           
Fund balances - ending 11,323,032$         (775,601)$           10,547,431$    11,217,440$          

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement.

Totals
Governmental Funds

Town of Rocky Mount, Virginia
Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balances

Governmental Funds
For the Year Ended June 30, 2012
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Exhibit 6

Amounts reported for governmental activities in the statement of activities are different because:

Net change in fund balances - total governmental funds (677,522)$               

Governmental funds report capital outlays as expenditures.  However, in the statement of
activities the cost of those assets is allocated over their estimated useful lives and reported 
as depreciation expense.  This is the amount by which the capital outlays exceeded 
depreciation in the current period. 301,881                  

Revenues in the statement of activities that do not provide current financial resources are
not reported as revenues in the funds. 1,434                     

The issuance of long-term debt (e.g. bonds, leases) provides current financial resources to 
governmental funds, while the repayment of the principal of long-term debt consumes 
the current financial resources of governmental funds.  Neither transaction, however, has 
any effect on net assets.  Also, governmental funds report the effect of issuance costs, 
premiums, discounts, and similar items when debt is first issued, whereas these amounts 
are deferred and amortized in the statement of activities.  This amount is the net effect
of these differences in the treatment of long-term debt and related items. 125,720                  

Some expenses reported in the statement of activities do not require the use of current
financial resources and, therefore are not reported as expenditures in governmental funds. 8,216                     

Change in net assets of governmental activities (240,271)$               

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement.

For the Year Ended June 30, 2012

Town of Rocky Mount, Virginia
Reconciliation of the Statement of Revenues, 

Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balances of Governmental Funds
to the Statement of Activities
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Exhibit 7

(For comparative purposes 
only)

2012 2011
ASSETS
Current assets:

Cash and cash equivalents -$                                   100,787$                         
Investments -                                     -                                     
Accounts receivable 160,737                           323,932                           
Due from other funds 628,390                           628,390                           
Due from other governmental units -                                     1,593                              
Inventories 42,996                            45,521                            
Prepaid expenses -                                     999                                 

Total current assets 832,123$                         1,101,222$                      
Noncurrent assets:

Restricted assets:
Cash and cash equivalents 280,018$                         356,642$                         
Customer deposits - cash and cash equivalents 29,275                            27,000                            
Total restricted assets 309,293$                         383,642$                         

Capital assets, net of accumulated depreciation:
Land 189,454$                         189,454$                         
Distribution systems 11,857,760                      12,352,577                      
Machinery and equipment 1,543,236                        176,310                           
Water and wastewater plants 348,479                           1,686,114                        
Total capital assets 13,938,929$                    14,404,455$                    
Total noncurrent assets 14,248,222$                    14,788,097$                    
Total assets 15,080,345$                    15,889,319$                    

LIABILITIES
Current liabilities:

Accounts payable 213,656$                         30,492$                           
Accrued payroll and related liabilities 8,606                              25,848                            
Reconciled overdraft 1,108,031                        1,554,177                        
Customer deposits 29,275                            27,000                            
Accrued interest payable 34,942                            36,383                            
Due to other funds 861,425                           861,425                           
Compensated absences - current portion 48,620                            15,933                            
Bonds payable - current portion 712,407                           666,030                           

Total current liabilities 3,016,962$                      3,217,288$                      

Noncurrent liabilities:
Compensated absences - net of current portion 16,206$                           47,797$                           
Bonds payable - net of current portion 3,513,958                        3,946,520                        
Net OPEB liability 55,553                            36,133                            

Total noncurrent liabilities 3,585,717$                      4,030,450$                      
Total liabilities 6,602,679$                      7,247,738$                      

NET ASSETS
Invested in capital assets, net of related debt 9,712,564$                      9,791,905$                      
Restricted for debt service 280,018                           356,642                           
Unrestricted (1,514,916)                      (1,506,966)                      

Total net assets 8,477,666$                      8,641,581$                      

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement.

Town of Rocky Mount, Virginia
Statement of Net Assets

Proprietary Funds
June 30, 2012

Water and Wastewater Fund
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Exhibit 8

(For 
comparative 

purposes only)

2012 2011

OPERATING REVENUES
Charges for services:

Water service charges and fees 1,095,171$      1,091,404$      
Sewer service charges and fees 661,731           663,078           
Water/sewer penalties 20,151             22,423             
Other revenues 41,166             49,961             

Total operating revenues 1,818,219$      1,826,866$      

OPERATING EXPENSES
Salaries 537,202$         515,228$         
Fringe benefits 308,667           283,610           
Maintenance 21,179             22,098             
Utilities and insurance 156,076           174,866           
Materials and supplies 143,216           98,577             
Contractual Services 113,720           90,558             
Other 101,596           110,922           
Depreciation 730,616           724,715           

Total operating expenses 2,112,272$      2,020,574$      

Operating income (loss) (294,053)$        (193,708)$        

NONOPERATING REVENUES (EXPENSES)
Connection fees
Intergovernmental revenue 4,000$             25,000$           
Interest revenue 18                   -                     
Interest and fiscal charges (173,896)          (272,769)          

Total nonoperating revenues (expenses) (169,878)$        (247,769)$        

Income (loss) before transfers (463,931)$        (441,477)$        

Transfers in 454,138$         761,607$         
Change in net assets (9,793)$           320,130$         

Total net assets - beginning, as restated 8,487,459        8,321,451        
Total net assets - ending 8,477,666$      8,641,581$      

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement.

Town of Rocky Mount, Virginia
Statement of Revenues, Expenses, and Changes in Net Assets

Proprietary Funds
For the Year Ended June 30, 2012

Water and Wastewater Fund
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Exhibit 9

(For 
comparative 

purposes only)

2012 2011

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Receipts from customers and users 1,829,567$    1,829,157$    
Payments to suppliers (349,099)        (568,356)        
Payments to employees (842,595)        (783,693)        

Net cash provided by (used for) by operating activities 637,873$       477,108$       

CASH FLOWS FROM NONCAPITAL FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Transfers from other funds 454,138$       761,607$       
Intergovernmental funds 5,593            23,407           

Net cash provided by (used for) by noncapital financing activities 459,731$       785,014$       

CASH FLOWS FROM CAPITAL AND RELATED FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Capital asset additions (265,090)$      (59,940)$        
Proceeds from issuance of debt 280,500         -                   
Principal payments on bonds (666,685)        (2,656,191)     
Interest payments (175,337)        (299,938)        

Net cash provided by (used for) by capital and related
financing activities (826,612)$      (3,016,069)$   

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Interest and dividends received 18$               -$                 

Net cash provided by (used for) by investing activities 18$               -$                 

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 271,010$       (1,753,947)$   

Cash and cash equivalents - beginning (1,069,748)     684,199         
Cash and cash equivalents - ending (798,738)$      (1,069,748)$   

Reconciliation of operating income (loss) to net cash 
provided by (used for) by operating activities:
Operating income (loss) (294,053)$      (193,708)$      
Adjustments to reconcile operating income (loss) to net cash

provided by (used for) by operating activities:
Depreciation expense 730,616$       724,715$       
(Increase) decrease in accounts receivable 9,073            2,766            
(Increase) decrease in inventories 2,525            (1,216)           
(Increase) decrease in prepaid expenses 999               (999)              
Increase (decrease) in customer deposits 2,275            (475)              
Increase (decrease) in accounts payable 183,164         (69,120)         
Increase (decrease) in accrued payroll and related liabilities (17,242)         1,232            
Increase (decrease) in OPEB liability 19,420           23,383           
Increase (decrease) in accrued leave 1,096            (9,470)           
Total adjustments 931,926$       670,816$       

Net cash provided by (used for) by operating activities 637,873$       477,108$       

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement.

Town of Rocky Mount, Virginia
Statement of Cash Flows

Proprietary Funds
For the Year Ended June 30, 2012

Water and Wastewater Fund
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 TOWN OF ROCKY MOUNT, VIRGINIA 
 
 NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 JUNE 30, 2012 
 
Note 1-Summary of Significant Accounting Policies: 
 
The financial statements of the Town conform to generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP) 
applicable to governmental units promulgated by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB). 
 The more significant accounting policies established in GAAP and used by the Town are discussed below. 
 
A. Financial Reporting Entity: 
 

The Town of Rocky Mount (“the Town”) was established in 1873.  It is a political subdivision of the 
Commonwealth of Virginia operating under the Council-Manager form of government.  The Town 
Council consists of a mayor and six other council members.  The Town is part of Franklin County and 
has taxing powers subject to statewide restrictions and tax limits. 
 
The Town provides a full range of municipal services including police, refuse collection, public 
improvements, planning and zoning, general administrative services, recreation, and water and 
wastewater services.  The Town provides substantial operating funding for its Volunteer Fire 
Department and also provides some funding for the County-wide volunteer rescue squad services. 
 
These financial statements present the Town as the primary government.  The Town has no 
component units – that is, entities for which the primary government is considered to be financially 
accountable.  Furthermore, the Town has no related or jointly governed organizations. 
 

B. Government-wide and fund financial statements: 
 

The government-wide financial statements (i.e., the Statement of Net Assets and the Statement of 
Activities) report information on all of the nonfiduciary activities of the primary government.  For 
the most part, the effect of interfund activity has been removed from these statements.  
Governmental activities, which normally are supported by taxes and intergovernmental revenues, 
are reported separately from business-type activities, which rely to a significant extent on fees and 
charges for support.  

 
 The statement of Net Assets is designed to display financial position of the primary government 

(government and business-type activities) and its discretely presented component units.  
Governments will report all capital assets in the government-wide Statement of Net Assets and will 
report depreciation expense – the cost of “using up” capital assets – in the Statement of Activities. 
The net assets of a government will be broken down into three categories – 1) invested in capital 
assets, net of related debt; 2) restricted; and 3) unrestricted. 

 
The Statement of Activities demonstrates the degree to which the direct expenses of a given 
function or segment are offset by program revenues.  Direct expenses are those that are clearly 
identifiable with a specific function or segment.  Program revenues include 1) charges to customers 
or applicants who purchase, use, or directly benefit from goods, services, or privileges provided by a 
given function or segment and 2) grants and contributions that are restricted to meeting the 
operational or capital requirements of a particular function or segment.  Taxes and other items not 
properly included among program revenues are reported instead as general revenues. 
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TOWN OF ROCKY MOUNT, VIRGINIA 
 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
JUNE 30, 2012 

 
Note 1-Summary of Significant Accounting Policies: (continued) 

 
C. Measurement focus, basis of accounting, and financial statement presentation:  
 

The government-wide financial statements are reported using the economic resources measurement 
focus and the accrual basis of accounting, as is the proprietary fund.  Revenues are recorded when 
earned and expenses are recorded when a liability is incurred, regardless of the timing of related 
cash flows.  Property taxes are recognized as revenues in the year for which they are levied.  Grants 
and similar items are recognized as revenue as soon as all eligibility requirements imposed by the 
provider have been met. 

 
Governmental fund financial statements are reported using the current financial resources 
measurement focus and the modified accrual basis of accounting.  Revenues are recognized as soon 
as they are both measurable and available.  Revenues are considered to be available when they are 
collectible within the current period or soon enough thereafter to pay liabilities of the current 
period.  For this purpose, the government considers revenues to be available if they are collected 
within 60 days of the end of the current fiscal period.  Expenditures generally are recorded when a 
liability is incurred, as under accrual accounting.  However, expenditures related to compensated 
absences and claims and judgments, are recorded only when payment is due. 

 
Property taxes, franchise taxes, licenses, and interest associated with the current fiscal period are 
all considered to be susceptible to accrual and so have been recognized as revenues of the current 
fiscal period.  Accordingly, real and personal property taxes are recorded as revenues and 
receivables when billed, net of allowances for un-collectible amounts. Property taxes not collected 
within 60 days after year-end are reflected as deferred revenues.   
 
Sales and utility taxes, which are collected by the state or utilities and subsequently remitted to the 
Town, are recognized as revenues and receivables upon collection by the state or utility, which is 
generally in the month preceding receipt by the Town. 

 
Licenses, permits, fines and rents are recorded as revenues when received. Intergovernmental 
revenues, consisting primarily of federal, state and other grants for the purpose of funding specific 
expenditures, are recognized when earned or at the time of the specific expenditure.  Revenues 
from general-purpose grants are recognized in the period to which the grant applies. All other 
revenue items are considered to be measurable and available only when the government receives 
cash. 

 
The government reports the following major governmental funds: 
 

The general fund is the government’s primary operating fund.  It accounts for and reports all 
financial resources of the general government, except those required to be accounted for in 
other funds.  
 
The capital projects fund is used to account for and report financial resources to be used for 
the construction of major capital facilities, other than those financed by proprietary funds.  

 
The government reports the following major proprietary funds: 

 
The enterprise fund accounts for the financing of services to the general public where all or  
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TOWN OF ROCKY MOUNT, VIRGINIA 
 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
JUNE 30, 2012 

 
Note 1-Summary of Significant Accounting Policies: (continued) 

 
C. Measurement focus, basis of accounting, and financial statement presentation:  (continued) 

 
most of the operating expenses involved are intended to be recovered in the form of user 
charges, or where management has decided that periodic determination of revenues earned, 
expenses incurred, and/or net income is appropriate for management control, accountability or 
other purposes.  The enterprise fund consists of the water and wastewater fund. 

 
Private-sector standards of accounting and financial reporting issued prior to December 1, 1989, 
generally are followed in both the government-wide and enterprise fund financial statements to the 
extent that those standards do not conflict with or contradict guidance of the Governmental 
Accounting Standards Board.  Governments also have the option of following subsequent private-
sector guidance for their business-type activities and enterprise funds, subject to this same 
limitation.  The government has elected not to follow subsequent private-sector guidance. 
 
As a general rule, the effect of interfund activity has been eliminated from the government-wide 
financial statements.  Exceptions to this general rule are other charges between the government’s 
water and sewer function and various other functions of the government.  Elimination of these 
charges would distort the direct costs and program revenues reported for the various functions 
concerned. 
 
Proprietary funds distinguish operating revenues and expenses from non-operating items.  Operating 
revenues and expenses generally result from providing services and producing and delivering goods 
in connection with a proprietary fund’s principal ongoing operations.  The principal operating 
revenues of the Town’s enterprise fund are charges to customers for sales and services.  The Town 
also recognizes as operating revenue the portion of tap fees intended to recover the cost of 
connecting new customers to the system.  Operating expenses for enterprise funds include the cost 
of sales and services, administrative expense, and depreciation on capital assets. All revenues and 
expenses not meeting this definition are reported as non-operating revenues and expenses.   

 
When both restricted and unrestricted resources are available for use, it is the government’s policy 
to use restricted resources first, and then unrestricted resources as they are needed. 

 
D. Assets, liabilities, and net assets or equity: 
 

1. Deposits and Investments 
 

The government’s cash and cash equivalents are considered to be cash on hand, demand 
deposits, and short-term investments with original maturities of three months or less from the 
date of acquisition. 

 
Investments for the government are reported at fair value.  The State Treasurer’s Local 
Government Investment Pool operates in accordance with appropriate state laws and 
regulations.  The reported value of the pool is the same as the fair value of the pool shares. 
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TOWN OF ROCKY MOUNT, VIRGINIA 
 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
JUNE 30, 2012 

 
Note 1-Summary of Significant Accounting Policies: (continued) 
 
D. Assets, liabilities, and net assets or equity: (continued) 

 
2.  Receivables and payables 
 

Activity between funds that are representative of lending/borrowing arrangements outstanding 
at the end of the fiscal year are referred to as either “due to/from other funds” (i.e., the 
current portion of interfund loans) or “advances to/from other funds” (i.e., the non-current 
portion of interfund loans).  All other outstanding balances between funds are reported as “due 
to/from other funds.”  Any residual balances outstanding between the governmental activities 
and business-type activities are reported in the government-wide financial statements as 
“internal balances.” 
 
Advances between funds, as reported in the fund financial statements, are offset by 
nonspendable fund balance in applicable governmental funds to indicate that they are not 
available for appropriation and are not expendable available financial resources. 

   
3. Inventories 

 
Inventories consist of expendable supplies held for consumption.  Inventories are presented at 
the lower of cost or market on a first-in, first-out basis and are expensed when used.  

  
4. Prepaid items 

 
Payments to vendors for services that will benefit future periods are reported as prepaid items 
using the consumption method by recording a current asset for the prepaid amount at the time 
of purchase and reflecting the expenditure/expense when the services are consumed. 

 
5. Property Taxes   

 
Property is assessed at its value on January 1.  Property taxes attach as an enforceable lien on 
property as of January 1.  Taxes are payable on February 28.  The Town bills and collects its 
own property taxes. 

 
6. Allowance for Uncollectible Accounts  

 
The Town calculates its allowance for uncollectible accounts for taxes using historical collection 
data and, in certain cases, specific account analysis.  The allowance amounted to 
approximately $15,631 for property taxes at June 30, 2012.  Management considers all accounts 
receivable related to business-type activities to be fully collectible and accordingly, no 
allowance for doubtful accounts is considered necessary. 

 
7. Use of Estimates 

 
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting 
principles requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect certain 
reported amounts and disclosures.  Accordingly, actual results could differ from those 
estimates. 
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TOWN OF ROCKY MOUNT, VIRGINIA 
 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
JUNE 30, 2012 

 
Note 1-Summary of Significant Accounting Policies: (continued) 
 

D. Assets, liabilities, and net assets or equity: (continued) 
 
8. Capital Assets 

 
Capital assets, which include property, plant, equipment, and infrastructure assets (e.g., roads, 
bridges, sidewalks, and similar items) are, reported in the applicable governmental or business-
type activities columns in the government-wide financial statements.  Capital assets are 
defined by the government as assets with an initial, individual cost of more than $5,000 
(amount not rounded) and an estimated useful life in excess of two years.  Such assets are 
recorded at historical cost or estimated historical cost if purchased or constructed.  Donated 
capital assets are recorded at estimated fair market value at the date of donation. 

 
The cost of normal maintenance and repairs that do not add to the value of the asset or 
materially extend the asset’s life are not capitalized. 
 
Major outlays for capital assets and improvements are capitalized as projects are constructed.  
Interest incurred during the construction phase of capital assets of business-type activities is 
included as part of the capitalized value of the assets constructed.  No interest was capitalized 
during the current or previous year. 

 
Property, plant, and equipment of the primary government are depreciated using the straight 
line method over the following estimated useful lives: 

 
Assets Years
Buildings and improvements 30-40
Machinery and equipment 5-10
Distribution/transmission systems 40-50
Water and wastewater plants 40-50
Infrastructure 20-40  

 
9. Compensated Absences 

 
Vested or accumulated vacation leave that is expected to be liquidated with expendable 
available financial resources is reported as an expenditure and a fund liability of the 
governmental fund that will pay it.  In accordance with the provisions of Government 
Accounting Standards No. 16, Accounting for Compensated Absences, no liability is recorded for 
non-vesting accumulating rights to receive sick pay benefits.  However, a liability is recognized 
for that portion of accumulating sick leave benefits that it is estimated will be taken as 
"terminal leave" prior to retirement.  The Town accrues salary-related payments associated 
with the payment of compensated absences.  All vacation pay is accrued when incurred in the 
government-wide and proprietary fund financial statements.   
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
JUNE 30, 2012 

 
Note 1-Summary of Significant Accounting Policies: (continued) 
 

D. Assets, liabilities, and net assets or equity: (continued) 
 

10. Long-term Obligations 
 

In the government-wide financial statements, and proprietary fund types in the fund financial 
statements, long-term obligations are reported as liabilities in the applicable governmental 
activities, business-type activities, or proprietary fund type Statement of Net Assets.  Bond 
premiums and discounts, as well as issuance costs, are deferred and amortized over the life of 
the bonds using the effective interest method.  Bonds payable are reported net of the 
applicable bond premium or discount.  Bond issuance costs are reported as deferred charges 
and amortized over the term of the related debt. 

 
In the fund financial statements, governmental fund types recognize bond premiums and 
discounts, as well as bond issuance costs, during the current period.  The face amount of debt 
issued is reported as other financing sources.  Premiums received on debt issuances are 
reported as other financing sources while discounts on debt issuances are reported as other 
financing uses.  Issuance costs, whether or not withheld from the actual debt proceeds 
received, are reported as debt service expenditures. 

 
 11. Fund Equity 
 

Beginning with fiscal year 2011, the Town implemented GASB Statement 54, Fund Balance 
Reporting and Governmental Fund Type Definitions. This Statement provides more clearly 
defined fund balance categories to make the nature and extent of the constraints placed on a 
government’s fund balance more transparent. The following classifications describe the relative 
strength of the spending constraints placed on the purposes for which resources can be used: 

 
 

Nonspendable fund balance – amounts that are not in spendable form (such as inventory 
and prepaids) or are required to be maintained intact (corpus of a permanent fund); 
 
Restricted fund balance – amounts constrained to specific purposes by their providers 
(such as grantors, bondholders, and higher levels of government), through constitutional 
provisions, or by enabling legislation; 
 
Committed fund balance – amounts constrained to specific purposes by a government 
itself, using its highest level of decision-making authority; to be reported as committed, 
amounts cannot be used for any other purpose unless the government takes the same 
highest level action to remove or change the constraint; 
 
Assigned fund balance – amounts a government intends to use for a specific purpose; 
intent can be expressed by the governing body or by an official or body to which the 
governing body delegates the authority; 
 
Unassigned fund balance – amounts that are available for any purpose; positive amounts 
are only reported in the general fund. 
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TOWN OF ROCKY MOUNT, VIRGINIA 
 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
JUNE 30, 2012 

 
Note 1-Summary of Significant Accounting Policies: (continued) 
 

D. Assets, liabilities, and net assets or equity: (continued) 
 

11. Fund Equity (continued) 
 

When fund balance resources are available for a specific purpose in more than one 
classification, it is the Town’s policy to use the most restrictive funds first in the following 
order: restricted, committed, assigned, and unassigned as they are needed. 

  
Town Council establishes (and modifies or rescinds) fund balance commitments by passage of 
an ordinance. This is typically done through adoption and amendment of the budget. A fund 
balance commitment is further indicated in the budget document as a designation or 
commitment of the fund (such as for special incentives). Assigned fund balance is established 
by Town Council through adoption or amendment of the budget as intended for specific purpose 
(such as the purchase of capital assets, construction, debt service, or for other purposes). 

 
12. Net Assets 

 
Net assets are the difference between assets and liabilities.  Net assets invested in capital 
assets represent capital assets, less accumulated depreciation less any outstanding debt related 
to the acquisition, construction or improvement of those assets. 
 

13.  Comparative Data 
 

Comparative total data for the year ended June 30, 2011 has been presented in the financial 
statements in order to provide an understanding of the changes in the financial position and 
operations. 
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TOWN OF ROCKY MOUNT, VIRGINIA 
 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
JUNE 30, 2012 

 
Note 2-Reconciliation of Government-Wide and Fund Financial Statements: 

 
A. Explanation of certain differences between the governmental fund balance sheet and the 

government-wide statement of net assets: 
 

The governmental fund balance sheet includes a reconciliation between fund balance-total 
governmental funds and net assets-governmental activities as reported in the government-wide 
statements of net assets.  One element of that reconciliation explains that long-term liabilities, 
including bonds payable, are not due and payable in the current period and therefore are not 
reported in the funds.  The details of this $(3,037,774) difference for the primary government are as 
follows: 
 

Primary
Government

Bonds and notes payable (2,665,692)$   
Accrued interest payable (47,070)         
Net OPEB liability (160,447)       
Compensated absences (164,565)       

Net adjustment to reduce fund balance-total
governmental funds to arrive at net assets-governmental
activities (3,037,774)$    

 
B. Explanation of certain differences between the governmental fund statement of revenues, 

expenditures, and changes in fund balances and the government-wide statement of activities: 
 

The governmental fund statement of revenues, expenditures, and changes in fund balances includes 
a reconciliation between net changes in fund balances-total governmental funds and changes in net 
assets of governmental activities as reported in the government-wide statement of activities.  One 
element of that reconciliation explains, “Governmental funds report capital outlays as expenditures. 
 However, in the statement of activities the cost of those assets is allocated over their estimated 
useful lives and reported as depreciation expense.”  The details of this $301,881 difference for the 
primary government are as follows: 
 

Primary

Government

Capital outlays 1,026,499$      

Depreciation expense (724,618)          

Net adjustment to increase (decrease) net changes in fund
balances - total governmental funds to arrive at changes in
net assets of governmental activities 301,881$          
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TOWN OF ROCKY MOUNT, VIRGINIA 
 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
JUNE 30, 2012 

 
Note 2-Reconciliation of Government-Wide and Fund Financial Statements: (continued) 

 
B. Explanation of certain differences between the governmental fund statement of revenues, 

expenditures, and changes in fund balances and the government-wide statement of activities: 
 
Another element of that reconciliation states “revenues in the statement of activities that no not 
provide current financial resources are not reported as revenues in the funds.”  The details of this 
$1,434 difference for the primary government are as follows: 
 

Primary
Government

Increase (Decrease) in Deferred Property Taxes 1,434$           

Net adjustment to increase (decrease) net changes in fund
balances-total governmental funds to arrive at changes in net
assets of governmental activities 1,434$           

 
Another element of that reconciliation states “the issuance of long-term debt (e.g., bonds, leases) 
provides current financial resources to governmental funds, while the repayment of the principal of 
long-term debt consumes the current financial resources of governmental funds.  Neither 
transaction, however, has any effect on net assets.  Also, governmental funds report the effect of 
issuance costs, premiums, discounts, and similar items when debt is first issued, whereas these 
amounts are deferred and amortized in the statement of activities.”  The details of this $125,720 
difference in the primary government are as follows: 
 

Primary 

Government

Debt Issued or incurred:

Increase in OPEB liability (63,580)$           

Principal repayments:

Bonds and Notes 189,300            

125,720$          

Net adjustment to increase net changes in fund balances-total
governmental funds to arrive at changes in net assets of
governmental activities
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TOWN OF ROCKY MOUNT, VIRGINIA 
 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
JUNE 30, 2012 

 
Note 2-Reconciliation of Government-Wide and Fund Financial Statements: (continued) 

 
B. Explanation of certain differences between the governmental fund statement of revenues, 

expenditures, and changes in fund balances and the government-wide statement of activities: 
 

Another element of that reconciliation states, “Some expenses reported in the statement of 
activities do not require the use of current financial resources and therefore are not reported as 
expenditures in governmental funds.”  The details of this $8,216 difference for the primary 
government are as follows: 
 

Primary
Government

(Increase) Decrease in Compensated absences (1,535)$          
(Increase) Decrease in Accrued interest 8,982             
(Increase) Decrease in Bond premium 2,075             
(Increase) Decrease in Bond issuance costs (1,306)           

Net adjustment to increase (decrease) net changes in fund
balances-total governmental funds to arrive at changes in net
assets of governmental activities 8,216$            

 
Note 3-Stewardship, Compliance, and Accountability: 
 

A. Budgetary information 
 

The following procedures are used by the Town in establishing the budgetary data reflected in the 
financial statements: 

 
1. Prior to June 30, the Town Manager submits to the Town Council a proposed operating and 

capital budget for the fiscal year commencing the following July 1. The operating and capital 
budget includes proposed expenditures and the means of financing them.  The following funds 
have legally adopted budgets: General Fund, Capital Projects Fund, and the Water and 
Wastewater Fund. 

 
2. Public hearings are conducted to obtain citizen comments. 
 
3. Prior to June 30, the budget for the general fund is legally enacted through passage of an 

Appropriations Ordinance.  Town Council may, from time to time, amend the budget, providing 
for additional expenditures and the means for financing them.  

 
4. The Appropriations Ordinance places legal restrictions on expenditures at the function level.  

Management can over-expend at the line item level without approval of Town Council. 
 

5. Formal budgetary integration is employed as a management control device during the year. 
 

6. Budgets are adopted utilizing the modified accrual basis of accounting. 
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TOWN OF ROCKY MOUNT, VIRGINIA 
 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
JUNE 30, 2012 

 
Note 3-Stewardship, Compliance, and Accountability: (continued) 
 
A. Budgetary information: (continued) 
 

7. Appropriations lapse on June 30 for all Town units.   
 

8. All budgetary data presented is the final revised budget. 
 

9. No functions overspent budgeted amounts during fiscal year 2012. 
 
B. Deficit fund equity 
 

At June 30, 2012, the Capital Projects Fund had deficit fund equity of $(775,601). 
 
Note 4-Deposits and Investments: 
 
Deposits  
Deposits with banks are covered by the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation (FDIC) and collateralized 
in accordance with the Virginia Security for Public Deposits Act (the “Act”) Section 2.2-4400 et. seq. of 
the Code of Virginia.  Under the Act, banks and savings institutions holding public deposits in excess of 
the amount insured by the FDIC must pledge collateral to the Commonwealth of Virginia Treasury Board. 
 Financial Institutions may choose between two collateralization methodologies and depending upon that 
choice, will pledge collateral that ranges in the amounts from 50% to 130% of excess deposits.  
Accordingly, all deposits are considered fully collateralized. 
 
Investments: 
Statutes authorize local governments and other public bodies to invest in obligations of the United States 
or agencies thereof, obligations of the Commonwealth of Virginia or political subdivisions thereof, 
obligations of the International Bank for Reconstruction and Development (World Bank), the Asian 
Development Bank, the African Development Bank, “prime quality” commercial paper and certain 
corporate notes, banker's acceptances, repurchase agreements, and the State Treasurer's Local 
Government Investment Pool (LGIP).   
 
Investment Policy 
In accordance with the Code of Virginia and other applicable law, including regulations, the Town’s 
investment policy (Policy) permits investments in U.S. treasury securities, U.S. agency securities, prime 
quality commercial paper, non-negotiable certificates of deposit and time deposits of Virginia banks, 
negotiable certificates of deposit of domestic banks, banker’s acceptances with domestic banks, 
Commonwealth of Virginia and Virginia Local Government Obligations, repurchase agreements 
collateralized by the U.S. treasury/agency securities, the Virginia State Non-Arbitrage Program or other 
authorized Arbitrage Investment Management programs, and the State Treasurer’s Local Government 
Investment Pool (the Virginia LGIP, a2a-7 like pool).  Pursuant to Sec.2.1-234.7 of the Code of Virginia, 
the Treasury Board of the Commonwealth sponsors the LGIP and has delegated certain functions to the 
State Treasurer.  The LGIP reports to the Treasury Board at their regularly scheduled monthly meetings 
and the fair value of the position in LGIP is the same as the value of the pool share (i.e., the LGIP 
maintains a stable net asset value of $1 per share).  The LGIP investment policy specifies that no 
investment may have a maturity greater than one year from the date of purchase. 
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Note 4-Deposits and Investments: (Continued) 
 
Investment Policy (Continued) 
 
The Policy limits investment maturities to five years maximum maturity for any negotiable certificate of 
deposit or any sovereign government obligation excluding those of the United States; to 15 years for any 
single corporate security; and five years for any single asset-backed security. 
  
Credit Risk of Debt Securities 
As required by state statute, the Policy requires that commercial paper have a short-term debt rating of 
no less than “A-1” (or its equivalent) from at least two of the following: Moody’s Investors Service, 
Standard & Poor’s, and Fitch Investors Service, provided that the issuing corporation has a net worth of 
at least $50 million and its long term debt is rated “A” or better by Moody’s and Standard & Poor’s.   
 
Banker’s acceptances and Certificates of Deposit maturing in less than one year must have a short-term 
debt rating of at least “A-1” by Standard & Poor’s and “P-1” by Moody’s Investors Service. 
 
Although the intent of the Policy is for the Town to diversify its investment portfolio to avoid incurring 
unreasonable risks regarding (i) security type, (ii) individual financial institution or issuing entity, and 
(iii) maturity, the policy places no limit on the amount the Town may invest in any one issuer. 
 
As of June 30, 2012, issuers that equal or exceed 5% of the total portfolio are as follows: 
 

% of Portfolio
Certificates of Deposit 51%
Federal Farm Credit 10%
Federal home Loan Mortgage Corporation 7%
Federal National Mortgage Association 17%
LGIP 15%  

 
The Town’s rated debt investments as of June 30, 2012 were rated by Standard and Poor’s and the 
ratings are presented below using the Standard and Poor’s rating scale. 

 

Rated Debt Investments
Aaa Unrated

Certificates of Deposit -$                   3,825,703$   
Federal Farm Credit 727,551              -               
Federal Home Loan Mortgage Corporation 510,265              -               
Federal National Mortgage Association 1,263,733           -               
LGIP 1,133,570           -               

3,635,119$         3,825,703$   

Fair Quality Ratings
Town's Rated Debt Investment Value
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Note 4-Deposits and Investments: (Continued) 
 
Interest Rate Risk 
All Town investments must be in securities maturing within five years. 

Investment Type Fair Value 1 year 1-5 years Call options
Certificates of Deposit 3,825,703$   -$             3,825,703$   None
Federal Farm Credit 502,380        502,380        -               9/24/2012
Federal Farm Credit 225,171        225,171        -               7/18/2012
Federal Home Loan Mortgage Corporation 255,092        255,092        -               7/13/2012
Federal Home Loan Mortgage Corporation 255,173        255,173        -               5/24/2013
Federal National Mortgage Association 506,530        506,530        -               4/29/2013
Federal National Mortgage Association 501,645        501,645        -               12/28/2012
Federal National Mortgage Association 255,558        255,558        -               5/30/2013
LGIP 1,133,570     1,133,570     -               None
Total 7,460,822$   3,635,119$   3,825,703$   

Investment Maturities

Custodial Credit Risk 
The Policy requires that all investment securities shall be held in safekeeping by a third party and 
evidenced by safekeeping receipts.  As required by the Code of Virginia, all security holdings with 
maturities over 30 days may not be held in safekeeping with the “counterparty” to the investment 
transaction.  As of June 30, all of the Town’s investments are held in a bank’s trust department in the 
Town’s name. 
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Note 5-Due from Other Governmental Units: 
 
The following amounts represent receivables from other governments at year-end: 

General Fund
Capital 

Projects Fund Total
Local Governments:

Franklin County High School 1,080$         -$            1,080$         
Franklin County Fire 7,500           -              7,500           

Commonwealth of Virginia:
Categorical aid 128,917       192,096       321,013       

Federal Government:
Categorical aid 4,649           -              4,649           

Total 142,146$     192,096$     334,242$      
 
Note 6-Interfund Transfers and Due to/from Other Funds: 
 
Interfund transfers for the year ended June 30, 2012 consisted of the following: 

Transfers In Transfers Out

Primary Government:
General Fund -$                   1,046,357$       
Capital Projects Fund 592,219          -                       
Water and Wastewater Fund 454,138          -                       
  Total 1,046,357$      1,046,357$       

Fund

 
 
The primary purpose of transfers is to pay the current year debt payments in the water and wastewater 
fund and eliminate negative pooled cash amounts due to normal operations. 
 
Due to/from other funds for the year ended June 30, 2012 consisted of the following: 

Due to Other 
Funds

Due from Other 
Funds

Primary Government:
General Fund -$                    861,425$         
Capital Projects Fund 628,390           -                      
Water and Wastewater Fund 861,425           628,390           
  Total 1,489,815$      1,489,815$      

Fund

 
 
The primary purpose of the due from/to amount is for the fund’s portion of pooled cash that is 
negative. 
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Note 7-Capital Assets: 

 
Capital asset activity for the year ended June 30, 2012 was as follows: 
 

Beginning Ending
Balance Increases Decreases Balance

Governmental Activities:
Capital assets, not being depreciated:

Land 2,621,168$    5,000$         -$                 2,626,168$      
Construction in progress 2,634,816      -                  (2,634,816)    -                  

Total capital assets not being depreciated 5,255,984$    5,000$         (2,634,816)$  2,626,168$      

Capital assets, being depreciated:
Public Domain Infrastructure 8,328,182$    3,135,600$  -$                 11,463,782$    
Buildings and improvements 6,876,040      277,959       -                   7,153,999        
Machinery and equipment 4,246,390      242,756       -                   4,489,146        

Total capital assets being depreciated 19,450,612$  3,656,315$  -$                 23,106,927$    

Less: accumulated depreciation for:
Public Domain Infrastructure (4,518,877)$   (274,750)$    -$                 (4,793,627)$     
Buildings and improvements (2,615,609)     (206,033)      -                   (2,821,642)      
Machinery and equipment (2,407,856)     (243,835)      -                   (2,651,691)      

Total accumulated depreciation (9,542,342)$   (724,618)$    -$                 (10,266,960)$   

Total capital assets being depreciated, net 9,908,270$    2,931,697$  -$                 12,839,967$    

Governmental activities capital assets, net 15,164,254$  2,936,697$  (2,634,816)$  15,466,135$    
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Note 7-Capital Assets: (continued) 
 
Business-type activities: 

Beginning Ending 
Balance Additions Deletions Balance

Business Type Activities:
Capital assets not being depreciated:

Land 189,454$        -$          -$          189,454$        
Total capital assets not being depreciated 189,454$        -$          -$          189,454$        

Capital assets being depreciated:
Distributions/transmission systems 22,235,414$   56,885$     -$          22,292,299$   
Water and wastewater plants 5,704,808       -            -            5,704,808       
Machinery and equipment 662,131          208,205     -            870,336          

Total capital assets being depreciated 28,602,353$   265,090$   -$          28,867,443$   

Less: accumulated depreciation:
Distributions/transmission systems (9,882,837)$    (551,702)$  -$          (10,434,539)$  
Water and wastewater plants (4,018,694)      (142,878)   -            (4,161,572)      
Machinery and equipment (485,821)        (36,036)     -            (521,857)        

Total accumulated depreciation (14,387,352)$  (730,616)$  -$          (15,117,968)$  

Total capital assets being depreciated, net 14,215,001$   (465,526)$  -$          13,749,475$   

Business Type Activities capital assets, net 14,404,455$   (465,526)$  -$          13,938,929$   

 
Depreciation expense was charged to functions/programs of the primary government as follows: 
 

Governmental activities:
General government administration 93,207$         
Public safety 240,204         
Public works 277,603         
Parks, recreation, and culture 6,741            
Community development 106,863         

Total depreciation expense-governmental activities 724,618$       

Business-type activities:
Water 290,198$       
Wastewater 440,418         

Total depreciation expense-business type activities 730,616$        
 
 

 

-42-



TOWN OF ROCKY MOUNT, VIRGINIA 
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JUNE 30, 2012 

 
Note 8-Long-Term Liabilities: 

 
Primary Government - Governmental Activity Liabilities: 
 
The following is a summary of long-term liabilities transactions of the Town for the year ended June 30, 
2012: 
 

Balance Balance
July 1, 2011 Issuances Retirements June 30, 2012

Revenue Bonds 1,196,100$  -$                (24,300)$       1,171,800$  
Notes Payable 1,640,000    -                  (165,000)       1,475,000    
Compensated absences 163,030       123,808       (122,273)       164,565       
OPEB liability 96,867         72,006         (8,426)           160,447       
Deferred amounts:

Issuance premium 53,073         -                  (2,075)           50,998         

  Total 3,149,070$  195,814$     (322,074)$     3,022,810$  

 
 
Annual requirements to amortize long-term debt and related interest are as follows: 
 

Year Ending
June 30, Principal Interest Principal Interest

2013 24,300$            57,449$            165,000$          55,519$            
2014 27,000              56,417              165,000            50,404             
2015 27,000              55,404              165,000            45,289             
2016 29,700              54,324              165,000            40,174             
2017 29,700              53,136              165,000            35,058             

2018-2022 170,100            242,960            650,000            72,590             
2023-2027 221,400            194,805            -                   -                   
2028-2032 283,500            133,650            -                   -                   
2033-2037 359,100            55,620              -                   -                   

Totals 1,171,800$       903,765$          1,475,000$       299,034$          

Revenue Bonds Notes Payable
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Note 8-Long-Term Liabilities: (Continued) 
 
Details of long-term indebtedness: 

Interest 
Rates

Date 
Issued 

Final 
Maturity

Original 
Amount

Amount 
Outstanding

Amount Due 
Within One 

Year

Revenue Bonds:
Virginia Municipal League 4.57% 02/07 02/37 2,380,000$     1,171,800$      24,300$        
Add bond premium n/a n/a n/a n/a 50,998            -               

Total Revenue Bonds 1,222,798$      24,300$        

Notes Payable:
Emergency Services Building 3.70% 12/10 12/21 1,640,000$     1,475,000$      165,000$      

Other Long-Term Obligations:
OPEB liability n/a n/a n/a n/a 160,447$         -$             
Compensated absences n/a n/a n/a n/a 164,565          123,424        

Total Other Obligations 325,012$         123,424$      

Total Long-term Obligations 3,022,810$      312,724$      

 
 
Primary Government-Enterprise Activity Liabilities:    
 
The following is a summary of long-term liabilities transactions of the Enterprise Fund for the year ended 
June 30, 2012: 
 

Balance Balance
July 1, 2011 Issuances Retirements June 30, 2012

Revenue bonds 1,018,900$    -$              (20,700)$      998,200$       
General obligation bonds 3,576,899     -                (645,331)      2,931,568      
Capital Lease -                   280,500     -                  280,500         
Compensated absences 63,730          48,894       (47,798)        64,826          
OPEB liability 36,133          21,994       (2,574)         55,553          
Deferred amounts:

Issuance premium 45,211          -                (1,767)         43,444          

  Total 4,740,873$    351,388$   (718,170)$    4,374,091$    
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TOWN OF ROCKY MOUNT, VIRGINIA 
 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
JUNE 30, 2012 

 
Note 8-Long-Term Liabilities:  (continued) 
 
Annual requirements to amortize long-term obligations and the related interest are as follows: 

 
Year Ending

June 30, Principal Interest Principal Interest Principal Interest

2013 20,700$     48,938$     666,507$       85,616$     25,200$        6,431$       
2014 23,000       48,059       431,254        78,707       25,794          5,836        
2015 23,000       47,196       185,103        71,520       26,403          5,228        
2016 25,300       46,276       192,581        64,041       27,025          4,605        
2017 25,300       45,264       200,361        56,261       27,663          3,968        

2018-2022 144,900     206,966     1,129,968     153,145     148,415        9,738        
2023-2027 188,600     165,945     125,794        2,516        -               -            
2028-2032 241,500     113,850     -               -            -               -            
2033-2037 305,900     47,380       -               -            -               -            

Totals 998,200$   769,874$   2,931,568$    511,806$   280,500$       35,806$     

Revenue Bond General Obligation Bonds Capital Lease

 
 
Details of long-term indebtedness: 
 

Interest 
Rates

Date 
Issued 

Final 
Maturity

Original 
Amount

Amount 
Outstanding

Amount Due 
Within One 

Year

Revenue Bonds:
Virginia Municipal League 4.57% 02/07 02/37 2,380,000$     998,200$         20,700$        
Add bond premium n/a n/a n/a n/a 43,444            -               

Total Revenue Bonds 1,041,644$      20,700$        

General Obligation Bonds:
Virginia Resource Authority 3.00% 06/92 01/14 7,931,455$     748,838$         495,500$      
Virginia Resource Authority 4.00% 07/01 11/23 3,451,906       2,182,730        171,007        

Total General Obligation Bonds 2,931,568$      666,507$      

Capital Lease:

Stafford County, Virginia IDA 2.345% 07/01 3/22 280,500$        280,500$         25,200$        

Other Long-Term Obligations:
OPEB liability n/a n/a n/a n/a 55,553$          -$             
Compensated absences n/a n/a n/a n/a 64,826            48,620         

Total Other Obligations 120,379$         48,620$        

Total Long-term Obligations 4,374,091$      761,027$      
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Note 9-Employee Retirement System and Pension Plans: 
 
A. Plan Description 
 

Name of Plan:   Virginia Retirement System (VRS) 
Identification of Plan: Agent Multiple-Employer Defined Benefit Pension Plan 
Administering Entity: Virginia Retirement System (System) 
 

  All full-time, salaried permanent (professional) employees of public school divisions and employees 
of participating employers are automatically covered by VRS upon employment.  Benefits vest after 
five years of service credit.  Members earn one month of service credit for each month they are 
employed and their employer is paying into the VRS.  Members are eligible to purchase prior public 
service, active duty military service, certain periods of leave and previously refunded VRS service as 
credit in their plan.   

 
      VRS administers two defined benefit plans for local government employees – Plan 1 and Plan 2: 
 

 Members hired before July 1, 2010 and who have service credits before July 1, 2010 are covered 
under Plan 1.  Non-hazardous duty members are eligible for an unreduced retirement benefit 
beginning at age 65 with at least five years of service credit or at age 50 with at least 30 years of 
service credit.  They may retire with a reduced benefit as early as age 55 with at least five years 
of service credit or at age 50 with at least 10 years of service credit. 

 
 Members hired or rehired on or after July 1, 2010 and who have no service credits before July 1, 

2010 are covered under Plan 2.  Non-hazardous duty members are eligible for an unreduced 
benefit beginning at their normal Social Security retirement age with at least five years of service 
credit or when the sum of their age and service equals 90. They may retire with a reduced 
benefit as early as age 60 with at least five years of service credit. 

 
 Eligible hazardous duty members in Plan 1 and Plan 2 are eligible for an unreduced benefit 

beginning at age 60 with at least five years of service credit or age 50 with at least 25 years of 
service credit.  These members include sheriffs, deputy sheriffs, and hazardous duty employees 
of political subdivisions that have elected to provide enhanced coverage for hazardous duty 
service.  They may retire with a reduced benefit as early as age 50 with at least five years of 
service credit.  All other provisions of the member’s plan apply. 

 
      The VRS Basic Benefit is a lifetime monthly benefit based on a retirement multiplier as a percentage 

of the member’s average final compensation multiplied by the member’s total service credit.  Under 
Plan 1, average final compensation is the average of the member’s 36 consecutive months of highest 
compensation.  Under Plan 2, average final compensation is the average of the member’s 60 
consecutive months of highest compensation.  The retirement multiplier for non-hazardous duty 
members is 1.70%.  The retirement multiplier for sheriffs and regional jail superintendents is 1.85%.  
The retirement multiplier for eligible political subdivision hazardous duty employees other than 
sheriffs and jail superintendents is 1.70% or 1.85% as elected by employer.  At retirement, members 
can elect the Basic Benefit, the Survivor Option, a Partial Lump-Sum Option Payment (PLOP) or the 
Advance Pension Option.  A retirement reduction factor is applied to the Basic Benefit amount for 
members electing the Survivor Option, PLOP, or Advance Pension Option or those retiring with a 
reduced benefit. 
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Note 9-Employee Retirement System and Pension Plans: (continued) 
 
A. Plan Description: (continued) 
  
      Retirees are eligible for an annual cost-of-living adjustment (COLA) effective July 1 of the second 

calendar year of retirement.  Under Plan 1, the COLA cannot exceed 5.00%; under Plan 2, the COLA 
cannot exceed 6.00%.  During years of no inflation or deflation, the COLA is 0.00%.  The VRS also 
provides death and disability benefits.  Title 51.1 of the Code of Virginia (1950), as amended, assigns 
the authority to establish and amend benefit provisions to the General Assembly of Virginia. 

 
      The system issues a publicly available comprehensive annual financial report that includes financial 

statements and required supplementary information for the plans administered by VRS.  A copy of 
the report may be obtained from the VRS Web site at 
http://www.varetire.org/Pdf/Publications/2011-annual-report.pdf or by writing to the System’s 
Chief Financial Officer at P.O. Box 2500, Richmond, VA, 23218-2500. 

 
B. Funding Policy 
 

Plan members are required by Title 51.1 of the Code of Virginia (1950), as amended, to contribute 
5.00% of their compensation toward their retirement.  All or part of the 5.00% member contribution 
may be assumed by the employer. In addition, the Town is required to contribute the remaining 
amounts necessary to fund its participation in the VRS using the actuarial basis specified by the Code 
of Virginia and approved by the VRS Board of Trustees.  The Town’s contribution rate for the fiscal 
year ended 2012 was 17.75% of annual covered payroll. 
 

C. Annual Pension Cost 
 

     The FY 2012 required contribution was determined as part of the June 30, 2009 actuarial valuation 
using the entry age actuarial cost method.  The actuarial assumptions at June 30, 2009 included (a) 
an investment rate of return (net of administrative expenses) of 7.50%, (b) projected salary increases 
ranging from 3.75% to 5.60% per year for general government employees and 3.50% to 4.75% per year 
for employees eligible for enhanced benefits available to law enforcement officers, firefighters, and 
sheriffs, and (c) a cost-of-living adjustment of 2.50% per year.  Both the investment rate of return 
and the projected salary increases include an inflation component of 2.50%.  The actuarial value of 
the Town’s assets is equal to the modified market value of assets.  This method uses techniques that 
smooth the effects of short-term volatility in the market value of assets over a five-year period. The 
Town’s unfunded actuarial accrued liability is being amortized as a level percentage of projected 
payroll on an open basis.  The remaining amortization period at June 30, 2009 for the Unfunded 
Actuarial Accrued Liability (UAAL) was 20 years.   
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Note 9-Employee Retirement System and Pension Plans: (continued) 
 
C.   Annual Pension Cost (continued) 
 

For fiscal year 2012, the Town of Rocky Mount’s annual pension cost of $359,853 for VRS was equal to 
the required and actual contributions. 

 
Three-Year Trend Information  

 

 

Fiscal Annual Percentage Net
Year Pension of APC Pension

Ending Cost (APC) Contributed Obligation

Primary Government: 6/30/2012 359,583$     100.00% -              
6/30/2011 353,217       100.00% -              
6/30/2010 354,256       100.00% -               

 
D.       Funded Status and Funding Progress 
 
     As of June 30, 2011, the most recent actuarial valuation date, the plan was 72.77% funded.  The 

actuarial accrued liability for benefits was $8,924,105, and the actuarial value of assets was 
$6,494,391, resulting in an unfunded actuarial accrued liability (UAAL) of $2,429,714. The covered 
payroll (annual payroll of active employees covered by the plan) was $1,945,330, and ratio of the 
UAAL to the covered payroll was 124.90%. 

     The schedule of funding progress, presented as required supplementary information (RSI) following 
the notes to the financial statements, presents multiyear trend information about whether the 
actuarial value of plan assets is increasing or decreasing over time relative to the actuarial accrued 
liability (AAL) for benefits. 

Note 10-Other Post-Employment Benefits (OPEB): 
 
Plan Description 
 
The Town provides post-employment medical and dental coverage for retired employees through a 
single-employer defined benefit plan.  The plan is established under the authority of Town Council, 
which may also amend the plan as deemed appropriate.  The plan does not issue a publicly available 
financial report. 
 
The plan will provide retiring employees the option to continue health and dental insurance offered by 
the Town.  Participants in the Town’s OPEB plan must have attained 5 years of service and must have 
attained the age of 55, or 10 years of service and attained age 50 to be eligible and may remain on the 
Town’s policy until death.  Members who retire from the Town are also eligible after 5 years of service 
and attained the age of 65. 
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Note 10-Other Post-Employment Benefits (OPEB): (continued) 
 
Plan Description: (continued) 
 
Health benefits include medical and dental.  Participating retirees pay 100% of monthly premiums to 
continue with the Town’s insurance plans. 
 
The number of participants at July 1, 2010 was as follows: 
 

Retirees currently receiving benefits 7
Active employees 59

Total 66  
 

Funding Policy 
The Town currently funds post-employment health care benefits on a pay-as-you-go basis and the 
retiree pays 100% of premiums. 
 
Annual OPEB Cost and Net OPEB Obligation 
The Town’s annual other postemployment benefit (OPEB) cost is calculated based on the annual required 
contribution of the employer (ARC), an amount actuarially determined in accordance with the 
parameters of GASB Statement 45.  The ARC represents a level of funding that, if paid on an ongoing 
basis, is projected to cover normal costs each year and amortize any unfunded actuarial liabilities (or 
funding excess) over a period not to exceed thirty years.  The following table shows the components of 
the Town’s annual OPEB cost for the year, the amount actually contributed to the plan, and changes in 
the Town’s net OPEB obligation: 
 

Annual required contribution 95,000$       
Interest on net OPEB obligation 5,000           
Adjustment to annual required contribution (6,000)         
Annual OPEB cost (expense) 94,000$       
Contributions made (11,000)        
Increase in net OPEB obligation 83,000$       
Net OPEB obligation - beginning of year 133,000       
Net OPEB obligation - end of year 216,000$     

 
The Town’s annual OPEB cost, the percentage of annual OPEB cost contributed to the Plan, and the net 
OPEB obligation for the current and preceding two years as follows: 
 

Percentage of Net
Fiscal Annual Annual OPEB Cost OPEB

Year Ended OPEB Cost Contributed Obligation

6/30/2010 60,000$                  15% 51,000$                  
6/30/2011 90,000                   9% 133,000                  
6/30/2012 94,000                   12% 216,000                  
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Note 10-Other Post-Employment Benefits (OPEB): (continued) 
 
Funded Status and Funding Progress 

 
The funded status of the Plan as of July 1, 2010, the most recent actuarial valuation, was as follows: 

 
Actuarial accrued liability (AAL) $ 804,000       
Actuarial value of plan assets -              
Unfunded actuarial accrued liability (UAAL) $ 804,000       

Funded ratio (actuarial value of plan assets/AAL) 0.00%
Covered payroll (active plan members) $ 2,081,530    
UAAL as a percentage of covered payroll 38.63%  

 
Actuarial valuations of an ongoing plan involve estimates of the value of reported amounts and 
assumptions about the probability of occurrence of events far into the future.  Examples include 
assumptions about future employment, mortality, and the healthcare cost trend.  Amounts determined 
regarding the funded status of the plan and the annual required contributions of the employer are 
subject to continual revision as actual results are compared with past expectations and new estimates 
are made about the future.  The schedule of funding progress, presented as required supplementary 
information following the notes to the financial statements, presents multiyear trend information about 
whether the actuarial value of plan assets is increasing or decreasing over time relative to the actuarial 
accrued liabilities for benefits. 

 
Actuarial Methods and Assumptions 

 
Projections of benefits for financial reporting purposes are based on the substantive plan and include the 
types of benefits provided at the time of each valuation and the historical pattern of sharing of benefit 
costs between the employer and plan members to that point.  The actuarial methods and assumptions 
used include techniques that are designed to reduce the effects of short-term volatility in actuarial 
accrued liabilities and the actuarial value of assets, consistent with the long-term perspective of the 
calculations.  

 
In the July 1, 2010 actuarial valuation, the projected unit credit actuarial cost method was used to 
determine liabilities.  Under this method, the postretirement health costs are assumed to be earned 
ratably from the date of hire to the participant’s full eligibility age.  The actuarial assumptions used a 
2.5% inflation rate, 4.0% investment rate of return, and a health care trend rate of 10.0% graded to 5.0% 
over 10 years.  The unfunded accrued liability is being amortized as a level percent over 30 years, 
commencing with the 2010 liability.  Amortizations are open ended in that they begin anew at each 
valuation date. 
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Note 11-Property Taxes 
 
The major sources of property taxes are real estate and personal property taxes.  The assessments are 
the responsibility of Franklin County, while billing and collection are the Town’s responsibilities.   
 
Property taxes are levied annually on assessed values as of January 1 and are due by February 28 of the 
following calendar year.  Personal property taxes do not create a lien on property; however, Town 
vehicle decals may not be issued to any individuals having outstanding personal property taxes. 
 
The annual assessment for real estate is based on 100% of the assessed fair market value.  A penalty of 
10% of the unpaid tax is due for late payment.  Interest is accrued at 10% for the initial year of 
delinquency, and thereafter at the maximum annual rate authorized by the Internal Revenue Code 
Section 6621(b).  The effective tax rates per $100 of assessed value for the year ended June 30 were as 
follows: 

Real estate 0.12$      
Personal Property 0.51$      
Machinery and Tools 0.17$       

 
Note 12-Deferred (Unearned) Revenue: 
 
Deferred revenue represents amounts for which asset recognition criteria have been met, but for which 
revenue recognition criteria have not been met.    Under the modified accrual basis of accounting, such 
amounts are measurable, but not available.  Deferred revenue totaling $34,015 is comprised of the 
following: 
 
Property Taxes - Property tax revenue representing uncollected tax billings not available for funding 
current expenditures totaled $34,015. 
 
Note 13-Risk Management: 
 
The Town is exposed to various risks of loss related to torts; theft of, damage to, and destruction of 
assets; errors and omissions; injuries to employees and natural disasters.  The Town participates with 
other localities in a public entity risk pool for their coverage of general liability, property, crime, 
machinery and auto insurance with the Virginia Municipal League.   Each member of this risk pool jointly 
and severally agrees to assume, pay and discharge any liability.  The Town pays the Virginia Municipal 
League contributions and assessments which are deposited into a designated cash reserve fund out of 
which expenses of the pool, claims and awards are to be paid.  In the event of a loss, deficit, or 
depletion of all available resources, the pool may assess all members in the proportion to which the 
premium of each bears to the total premiums of all members in the year in which such deficit occurs.  
The Town continues to carry commercial insurance for all other risks of loss.  Settled claims resulting 
from these risks have not exceeded commercial insurance coverage in any of the past three fiscal years. 
 
Note 14-Surety Bonds: 
 
 

VML Insurance Programs

Employee Dishonesty 1,000,000$     
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Note 15-Commitments and Contingencies: 
 
Special Purpose Grants 
In 2004, the Town purchased and renovated a home for approximately $70,000 using Community 
Development Block Grant funds to be used as relocation housing for individuals whose home was being 
rehabilitated as part of the same Community Development Block Grant.  If the Town elects to retain 
ownership of the home so that it can be used as a relocation house for future rehabilitation projects, it 
will be required to pay back the cost of this project to the Department of Housing and Community 
Development.  Town Council has voted to sell the house, and it is currently undergoing minor renovations 
to be placed on the market.  

 
Note 16-Restatement of Beginning Balances: 
 
Beginning balances have been restated from the prior financial report as noted below: 
 

Restatement of beginning fund balance: General Fund
Fund balance, as previously reported  $          11,897,728 

Adjustment to record unbilled garbage receivable                      7,513 

Beginning Fund balance, as restated  $          11,905,241 

Restatement of beginning net assets:
Business-type 

Activities
Net assets, as previously reported  $            8,641,581 

Adjustment to record unbilled receivable                 (154,122)

Net assets, as restated  $            8,487,459 
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Exhibit 10

Variance with
Final Budget - 

Actual Positive
Original Final Amounts (Negative)

REVENUES
General property taxes 793,204$          793,204$           835,312$                42,108$            
Other local taxes 2,639,694        2,639,694          2,884,666               244,972            
Permits, privilege fees, and regulatory licenses 15,400             15,400               5,945                     (9,455)              
Fines and forfeitures 25,890             25,890               28,467                   2,577               
Revenue from the use of money and property 72,958             72,958               81,198                   8,240               
Charges for services 97,650             97,650               107,332                  9,682               
Miscellaneous 4,640               4,640                30,481                   25,841             
Recovered costs -                      -                        613                        613                  
Intergovernmental revenues:

Commonwealth 1,557,305        1,591,209          1,695,066               103,857            
Total revenues 5,206,741$       5,240,645$        5,669,080$             428,435$          

EXPENDITURES
Current:

General government administration 635,673$          635,673$           824,164$                (188,491)$         
Public safety 1,652,468        1,743,936          1,764,573               (20,637)            
Public works 1,508,698        1,713,368          1,457,358               256,010            
Parks, recreation, and cultural 82,781             179,781             69,802                   109,979            
Community development 385,026           385,026             374,620                  10,406             
Nondepartmental 171,459           171,459             398,734                  (227,275)          

Debt service:
Principal retirement 189,300           189,300             189,300                  -                      
Interest and other fiscal charges 127,201           127,201             126,381                  820                  

Total expenditures 4,752,606$       5,145,744$        5,204,932$             (59,188)$          

Excess (deficiency) of revenues over (under)
expenditures 454,135$          94,901$             464,148$                369,247$          

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES)
Transfers out (454,135)          (454,135)            (1,046,357)$            (592,222)$         

Total other financing sources (uses) (454,135)$        (454,135)$          (1,046,357)$            (592,222)$         

Net change in fund balances -$                    (359,234)$          (582,209)$               (222,975)$         
Fund balances - beginning, as restated -                      359,234 11,905,241 11,546,007       
Fund balances - ending -$                    -$                      11,323,032$           11,323,032$     

Note 1:  The budget is prepared on the modified accrual basis of accounting.

Budgeted Amounts

Town of Rocky Mount, Virginia
General Fund

Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balances - Budget and Actual
For the Year Ended June 30, 2012
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Exhibit 11

Primary Government:  Town Retirement Plan

Actuarial Actuarial Unfunded Funded Ratio Annual UAAL as a
Valuation Value of Accrued AAL (UAAL) Assets as % Covered % of Covered

as of Assets Liability (AAL) (3) - (2) of AAL (2)/(3) Payroll Payroll (4)/(6)
(1) (2) (3) (4) (5) (6) (7)

June 30, 2011 6,494,391$    8,924,105$    2,429,714$    72.77% 1,945,330$    124.90%
June 30, 2010 6,304,482      8,803,126      2,498,644      71.62% 2,081,530      120.04%
June 30, 2009 6,355,574      8,142,963      1,787,389      78.05% 2,152,021      83.06%

Primary Government: Town Other Post-Employment Benefits Plan

Actuarial Actuarial Unfunded Funded Ratio Annual UAAL as a
Valuation Value of Accrued AAL (UAAL) Assets as % Covered % of Covered

as of Assets Liability (AAL) (3) - (2) of AAL (2)/(3) Payroll Payroll (4)/(6)
(1) (2) (3) (4) (5) (6) (7)

July 1, 2010 -$              804,000$       804,000$       0.00% 2,081,530$    38.63%
July 1, 2008 -                480,000         480,000         0.00% 2,152,021      22.30%

Town of Rocky Mount, Virginia
Required Supplementary Information

Schedule of Pension and OPEB Funding Progress
For the Year Ended June 30, 2012
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Exhibit 12

Variance with
Final Budget - 

Actual Positive
Original Final Amounts (Negative)

REVENUES
Miscellaneous 2,138$                 -$                         2,138$                   2,138$                 
Contributions 156,064               -                           156,064                  156,064               

Total revenues 158,202$             -$                         158,202$                158,202$             

EXPENDITURES
Capital Outlay 845,734$             371,074$              845,734$                (474,660)$            

Total expenditures 845,734$             371,074$              845,734$                (474,660)$            

Excess (deficiency) of revenues over (under)
expenditures (687,532)$            (371,074)$             (687,532)$              (316,458)$            

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES)
Transfers in 592,219$             -$                         592,219$                592,219$             

Total other financing sources (uses) 592,219$             -$                         592,219$                592,219$             

Net change in fund balances (95,313)$              (371,074)$             (95,313)$                275,761$             
Fund balances - beginning 100,000               371,074                (680,288)                (1,051,362)           
Fund balances - ending 4,687$                 -$                         (775,601)$              (775,601)$            

Note 1:  The budget is prepared on the modified accrual basis of accounting.

Budgeted Amounts

Town of Rocky Mount, Virginia
Capital Projects Fund

Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balances - Budget and Actual
For the Year Ended June 30, 2012
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Schedule 1
Page 1 of 3

Variance with
Final Budget -

Original Final Positive
Budget Budget Actual (Negative)

General Fund:
Revenue from local sources:

General property taxes:
Real Property Tax 547,772$       547,772$       553,142$       5,370$                
Public service corporation taxes 25,078          25,078          27,404          2,326                 
Personal Property Tax 133,679         133,679         140,872         7,193                 
Machinery and tools tax 85,175          85,175          105,141         19,966                
Penalties 1,000            1,000            6,959            5,959                 
Interest 500               500               1,794            1,294                 

Total general property taxes 793,204$       793,204$       835,312$       42,108$              

Other local taxes:
Local sales and use taxes 157,495$       157,495$       165,757$       8,262$                
Consumers' utility taxes 332,100         332,100         282,489         (49,611)              
Business license taxes 492,344         492,344         727,126         234,782              
Motor vehicle licenses 89,470          89,470          83,426          (6,044)                
Bank stock taxes 202,320         202,320         205,444         3,124                 
Lodging taxes 84,890          84,890          95,823          10,933                
Meals taxes 1,031,075      1,031,075      1,163,386      132,311              
Cigarette taxes 250,000         250,000         123,161         (126,839)             
Consumption tax -                   -                   38,054          38,054                

Total other local taxes 2,639,694$    2,639,694$    2,884,666$    244,972$            

Permits, privilege fees, and regulatory licenses:
Farmers Market permits 1,900$          1,900$          2,655$          755$                   
Welcome Center fees 6,000            6,000            3,290            (2,710)                
Planning and zoning 7,500            7,500            -                   (7,500)                

Total permits, privilege fees, and regulatory licenses 15,400$         15,400$         5,945$          (9,455)$              

Fines and forfeitures:

Court fines 25,500$         25,500$         28,262$         2,762$                
Parking fines 390               390               205               (185)                   

Total fines and forfeitures 25,890$         25,890$         28,467$         2,577$                

Revenue from use of money and property:
Interest earned 72,538$         72,538$         80,778$         8,240$                
Revenue from use of property 420               420               420               -                        

Total revenue from use of money and property 72,958$         72,958$         81,198$         8,240$                

Charges for services:
Waste collection charges 88,350$         88,350$         88,800$         450$                   
Grave preparation 1,000            1,000            1,550            550                    
Police reports 1,500            1,500            1,516            16                      

Town of Rocky Mount, Virginia
Schedule of Revenues - Budget and Actual

Governmental Funds
For the Year Ended June 30, 2012

Fund, Major and Minor Revenue Source
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General Fund: (Continued)
Revenue from local sources: (Continued)

Charges for services: (Continued)
Security services 2,500$          2,500$          4,410$          1,910$                
Passport services 3,500            3,500            7,982            4,482                 
Miscellaneous services 800               800               3,074            2,274                 

Total charges for services 97,650$         97,650$         107,332$       9,682$                

Miscellaneous revenue:
Donations -$                 -$                 1,226$          1,226$                
Miscellaneous 4,640            4,640            29,255          24,615                

Total miscellaneous revenue 4,640$          4,640$          30,481$         25,841$              

Recovered costs:
Other recovered costs -$                 -$                 613$             613$                   

Total revenue from local sources 3,649,436$    3,649,436$    3,974,014$    324,578$            

Intergovernmental revenues:
Revenue from the Commonwealth:

Noncategorical aid:
Personal property tax relief funds 53,861$         53,861$         53,861$         -$                       
Telecommunications tax 197,880         197,880         196,168         (1,712)                
Litter tax 2,500            2,500            2,054            (446)                   
Rolling Stock 3,000            3,000            3,144            144                    

Total noncategorical aid 257,241$       257,241$       255,227$       (2,014)$              

Categorical aid:
Fire programs 40,000$         40,000$         41,740$         1,740$                
Highway maintenance 1,117,402      1,117,402      1,191,111      73,709                
Drug asset forfeiture -                   -                   1,371            1,371                 
Law enforcement aid 142,662         172,294         138,092         (34,202)              
Department of Conservation and Recreation grant -                   -                   39,620          39,620                
Police traffic grant -                   4,272            8,795            4,523                 
DMV  mini grant -                   -                   19,110          19,110                

Total other categorical aid 1,300,064$    1,333,968$    1,439,839$    105,871$            

Total revenue from the Commonwealth 1,557,305$    1,591,209$    1,695,066$    103,857$            

Total General Fund 5,206,741$    5,240,645$    5,669,080$    428,435$            
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Capital Projects Fund:
Capital Projects:
Intergovernmental revenues:
Revenue from the federal government:

Categorical aid:
Miscellaneous 2,138$          -$                 2,138$          2,138$                
Contributions 156,064         -                   156,064         156,064              

Total Capital Projects Fund 158,202$       -$                 158,202$       158,202$            
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General Fund:
General government administration:

Mayor and Town Council:
Wages - elected officials 2,500$          2,500$          2,450$              50$                  
Wages - contractual services 35,000          35,000          29,025              5,975               
Fringes/benefits 24,983          24,983          23,326              1,657               
Contractual services 2,145            2,145            2,959                (814)                 
Advertising 1,700            1,700            1,649                51                   
Printing and binding 918               918               331                   587                  
Postage and delivery services 225               225               203                   22                   
Communication -                   -                   1,988                (1,988)              
Travel, training, and education 3,930            3,930            3,190                740                  
Meeting expenses 300               300               1,016                (716)                 
Stipends 1,000            1,000            1,150                (150)                 
Dues and professional memberships 10,585          10,585          8,851                1,734               
Books and subscriptions 495               495               -                       495                  
Office supplies 1,900            1,900            2,091                (191)                 
Miscellaneous 9,800            9,800            11,998              (2,198)              
Audio and video equipment 10,000          10,000          9,295                705                  

Total Mayor and Town Council 105,481$       105,481$       99,522$            5,959$             

Town Manager:
Wages 120,417$       120,417$       119,676$           741$                
Fringes/benefits 45,030          45,030          46,150              (1,120)              
Contractual services 1,000            1,000            641                   359                  
Postage and delivery services 490               490               324                   166                  
Motor fuel expense 590               590               622                   (32)                  
Motor vehicle expense 200               200               857                   (657)                 
Communication 6,000            6,000            5,450                550                  
Travel, training, and education 2,375            2,375            4,835                (2,460)              
Dues and professional memberships 850               850               832                   18                   
Books and subscriptions 450               450               136                   314                  
Office supplies 1,900            1,900            3,479                (1,579)              
Furniture and fixtures -                   -                   238                   (238)                 
Data processing equipment -                   -                   4,135                (4,135)              

Total Town Manager 179,327$       179,327$       187,375$           (8,048)$            

Town Attorney/Legal Services:
Contractual services 8,000$          8,000$          15,452$            (7,452)$            
Retainer 15,750          15,750          15,750              -                      
Professional services 15,000          15,000          15,192              (192)                 
Dues and professional memberships 240               240               59                     181                  
Books and subscriptions 200               200               611                   (411)                 

Total Town Attorney/Legal Services 39,190$         39,190$         47,064$            (7,874)$            

Town of Rocky Mount, Virginia
Schedule of Expenditures - Budget and Actual

Governmental Funds
For the Year Ended June 30, 2012

Fund, Function, Activity and Element
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General Fund: (continued)
General government administration: (continued)

Finance:
Wages 137,131$       137,131$       138,234$           (1,103)$            
Fringes/benefits 60,354          60,354          61,649              (1,295)              
Contractual services 69,605          69,605          58,389              11,216             
Advertising 300               300               336                   (36)                  
Printing and binding 5,550            5,550            12,658              (7,108)              
Postage and delivery services 6,000            6,000            5,077                923                  
Communications 4,500            4,500            4,217                283                  
Travel, training, and education 4,960            4,960            3,647                1,313               
Dues and professional memberships 1,125            1,125            925                   200                  
Books and subscriptions 650               650               337                   313                  
Miscellaneous -                   -                   26                     (26)                  
Loss on investment -                   -                   186,202            (186,202)          
Office Supplies 9,000            9,000            8,168                832                  
Capital outlay -                   -                   2,220                (2,220)              
Furniture and fixtures -                   -                   8,118                (8,118)              

Total Finance 311,675$       311,675$       490,203$           (178,528)$         

Total General Government Administration 635,673$       635,673$       824,164$           (188,491)$         

Public safety:
Police Department:

Wages 883,909$       933,387$       936,407$           (3,020)$            
Fringes/benefits 464,053         464,053         426,656            37,397             
Contractual services 13,000          13,000          14,022              (1,022)              
Repairs and maintenance 200               200               2,017                (1,817)              
Advertising 400               400               3,372                (2,972)              
Printing and binding 2,000            2,000            121                   1,879               
Postage and delivery services 450               450               602                   (152)                 
Motor fuel expense 35,700          35,700          58,858              (23,158)            
Motor vehicle expense 14,000          14,000          35,131              (21,131)            
Communications 20,280          20,280          22,383              (2,103)              
Grant expenses -                   -                   14,310              (14,310)            
Asset forfeiture expenses 1,000            1,000            3,275                (2,275)              
Explorer post expenses -                   -                   158                   (158)                 
Police K-9 unit 3,000            3,000            5,515                (2,515)              
Uniforms 8,800            8,800            13,688              (4,888)              
Travel, training, and education 9,500            9,500            28,626              (19,126)            
Uniform stipend 11,600          11,600          10,150              1,450               
Dues and professional memberships 1,000            1,000            600                   400                  
Books and subscriptions 475               475               105                   370                  
Miscellaneous 1,000            1,000            177                   823                  

General Fund: (continued)
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Public safety: (continued)
Police Department:(continued)

Office supplies 5,000$          5,000$          3,899$              1,101$             
Police supplies 15,000          15,000          7,597                7,403               
Furniture and fixtures 1,000            1,000            645                   355                  
Data processing 14,000          14,000          5,283                8,717               
Motor vehicles -                   -                   12,027              (12,027)            
Motor vehicle lease 27,272          27,272          27,858              (586)                 
Audio and video equipment 12,000          16,747          6,847                9,900               
Police equipment 5,000            5,000            -                       5,000               

Total Police Department 1,549,639$    1,603,864$    1,640,329$        (36,465)$          

Volunteer Fire Department:
Fringes/benefits 1,754$          1,754$          2,047$              (293)$               
Contractual services 1,100            1,100            795                   305                  
Repairs and maintenance 2,000            2,000            1,542                458                  
Advertising -                   -                   498                   (498)                 
Printing and binding 150               150               252                   (102)                 
Motor fuel expense 6,200            6,200            8,202                (2,002)              
Motor vehicle expense 16,000          16,000          15,128              872                  
Small equipment expense 350               350               190                   160                  
Communications 3,000            3,000            2,197                803                  
Insurance 6,100            6,100            6,515                (415)                 
Uniforms/turnout gear 6,000            6,000            5,507                493                  
Travel, training, and education 1,500            1,500            241                   1,259               
Stipends 44,400          44,400          45,380              (980)                 
Dues and professional memberships 800               800               250                   550                  
Books and subscriptions 1,000            1,000            833                   167                  
Office supplies 300               300               170                   130                  
Fire department supplies 11,125          11,125          2,368                8,757               
Data processing 1,000            1,000            1,630                (630)                 
Motor vehicles -                   37,243          24,694              12,549             
Audio and video equipment -                   -                   2,320                (2,320)              
Acquisitions - grant funded -                   -                   3,485                (3,485)              

Total Volunteer Fire Department 102,829$       140,072$       124,244$           15,828$           

Total public safety 1,652,468$    1,743,936$    1,764,573$        (20,637)$          
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General Fund: (continued)
Public works:

Administration:
Fringes/benefits 616$             616$             402$                 214$                
Contractual services 800               800               585                   215                  
Printing and binding 50                 50                 -                       50                   
Communications 2,040            2,040            1,585                455                  
Uniforms 13,250          13,250          12,477              773                  
Travel, training, and education 50                 50                 -                       50                   
Books and subscriptions 100               100               -                       100                  
Office supplies 250               250               259                   (9)                    

Total Public Works Administration 17,156$         17,156$         15,308$            1,848$             

PW Non-VDOT Highway Eligible:
Uniforms -$                 -$                 1,561$              (1,561)$            

Street Lights:
Wages -$                 -$                 2,349$              (2,349)$            
Fringes/benefits -                   -                   1,209                (1,209)              
Contractual services 1,000            1,000            2,545                (1,545)              
Utilities 90,000          90,000          81,192              8,808               
Streets, street lights, sidewalks 150               150               49                     101                  

Total Street Lights 91,150$         91,150$         87,344$            3,806$             

Traffic Control and Parking:
Wages 12,069$         12,069$         13,987$            (1,918)$            
Fringes/benefits 6,821            6,821            7,860                (1,039)              
Contractual services 42,000          42,000          34,742              7,258               
Utilities 8,000            8,000            7,858                142                  
Motor fuel expense 800               800               731                   69                   
Motor vehicle expense 200               200               89                     111                  
Lights for Life expenses -                   -                   4,307                (4,307)              
Traffic control/parking supplies 8,500            8,500            6,466                2,034               
Lights for Life/Opticom -                   204,670         188,206            16,464             

Total Traffic Control and Parking 78,390$         283,060$       264,246$           18,814$           
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General Fund: (continued)
Public works: (continued)

Streets:
Wages 287,638$       287,638$       235,626$           52,012$           
Fringes/benefits 162,579         162,579         139,772            22,807             
Contractual services 376,000         376,000         308,100            67,900             
Repairs and maintenance 250               250               -                       250                  
Advertising 100               100               159                   (59)                  
Permits, licenses, fees 750               750               750                   -                      
Motor fuel expense 23,000          23,000          26,419              (3,419)              
Motor vehicle expense 12,000          12,000          13,057              (1,057)              
Travel and training -                   -                   3,876                (3,876)              
Small equipment expense 2,500            2,500            -                       2,500               
Miscellaneous 100               100               9                      91                   
Agricultural supplies 500               500               462                   38                   
Chemicals and materials 3,000            3,000            1,701                1,299               
Streets, street lights, sidewalk supplies 20,000          20,000          17,434              2,566               
Motor vehicles -                   -                   6,966                (6,966)              
Machinery and equipment 2,500            2,500            -                       2,500               
Construction vehicles and equipment 20,500          20,500          19,750              750                  
Infrastructure -                   -                   743                   (743)                 

Total Streets 911,417$       911,417$       774,824$           136,593$          

Sidewalks, curbs, and guttering:
Wages 10,057$         10,057$         7,016$              3,041$             
Fringes/benefits 5,685            5,685            4,578                1,107               
Contractual services 50,000          50,000          50,000             
Travel, training, and educations 75                 75                 80                     (5)                    
Motor fuel -                   -                   6                      (6)                    
Small equipment -                   -                   33                     (33)                  
Books and subscriptions 75                 75                 -                       75                   
Street and sidewalk supplies 5,000            5,000            1,374                3,626               
Machinery and equpiment 2,800            2,800            -                       2,800               

Total Sidewalks, curbs, and guttering 73,692$         73,692$         13,087$            60,605$           

Street Cleaning:
Wages 8,621$          8,621$          8,067$              554$                
Fringes/benefits 4,872            4,872            4,338                534                  
Motor fuel expense 825               825               971                   (146)                 
Motor vehicle expense 2,500            2,500            5,399                (2,899)              
Streets, street lights, cleaning, and sidewalk supplies -                   -                   2,737                (2,737)              

Total Street Cleaning 16,818$         16,818$         21,512$            (4,694)$            
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General Fund: (continued)

Public works: (continued)
Refuse Collection:

Wages 89,529$         89,529$         84,654$            4,875$             
Fringes/benefits 50,389          50,389          39,923              10,466             
Repairs and maintenance -                   -                   48                     (48)                  
Advertising 400               400               283                   117                  
Motor fuel expense 7,700            7,700            7,093                607                  
Motor vehicle expense 6,000            6,000            10,071              (4,071)              
Small equipment expense -                   -                   33                     (33)                  
Refuse collection supplies 200               200               855                   (655)                 

Total Refuse Collection 154,218$       154,218$       142,960$           11,258$           

Snow Removal:
Wages 7,747$          7,747$          1,552$              6,195$             
Fringes/benefits 3,403            3,403            1,434                1,969               
Motor fuel expense 1,700            1,700            -                       1,700               
Motor vehicle expense 1,500            1,500            1,703                (203)                 
Chemicals, materials, supplies 10,000          10,000          -                       10,000             
Streets, street lights, cleaning, and sidewalk supplies 1,000            1,000            786                   214                  

Total Snow Removal 25,350$         25,350$         5,475$              19,875$           

Municipal Building:
Wages -$                 -$                 2,208$              (2,208)$            
Fringes/benefits -                   -                   1,313                (1,313)              
Contractual services 30,347          30,347          21,304              9,043               
Repairs and maintenance 500               500               1,801                (1,301)              
Utilities 30,000          30,000          22,977              7,023               
Communications -                   -                   415                   (415)                 
Municipal building supplies 1,000            1,000            1,958                (958)                 
Agricultural supplies -                   -                   53                     (53)                  
Janitorial supplies 1,250            1,250            1,703                (453)                 
Furniture and fixtures -                   -                   948                   (948)                 
Data processing -                   -                   1,522                (1,522)              
Machinery and equipment -                   -                   430                   (430)                 

Total Municipal Building 63,097$         63,097$         56,632$            6,465$             
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General Fund: (continued)
Public works: (continued)

Emergency Services Building:
Wages -$                 -$                 2,316$              (2,316)$            
Fringes/benefits -                   -                   808                   (808)                 
Contractual services 14,300          14,300          15,705              (1,405)              
Repairs and maintenance 7,000            7,000            2,095                4,905               
Utilities 15,900          15,900          15,971              (71)                  
Heating fuel expense 14,000          14,000          14,252              (252)                 
Communications -                   -                   1,266                (1,266)              
Agricultural supplies -                   -                   34                     (34)                  
Janitorial supplies 1,600            1,600            3,418                (1,818)              
ES building supplies 550               550               799                   (249)                 
Capital outlay -                   -                   75                     (75)                  
Land and buildings 5,000            5,000            272                   4,728               
Data processing -                   -                   874                   (874)                 

Total Emergency Services Building 58,350$         58,350$         57,885$            465$                

Public Works Building:
Wages -$                 -$                 2,647$              (2,647)$            
Fringes/benefits -                   -                   1,658                (1,658)              
Contractual services 1,770            1,770            1,149                621                  
Repairs and maintenance 250               250               480                   (230)                 
Utilities 5,750            5,750            3,114                2,636               
Heating fuel expense 3,000            3,000            1,749                1,251               
Communications 2,450            2,450            2,491                (41)                  
Office supplies 140               140               39                     101                  
Janitorial supplies 1,200            1,200            1,503                (303)                 
Shop supplies 2,500            2,500            1,694                806                  
Capital outlay 2,000            2,000            -                       2,000               

Total Public Works Building 19,060$         19,060$         16,524$            2,536$             

Total public works 1,508,698$    1,713,368$    1,457,358$        256,010$          

Parks, recreation, and cultural:
Cemetery Maintenance:

Wages 8,621$          8,621$          12,279$            (3,658)$            
Fringes/benefits 4,872            4,872            6,414                (1,542)              
Contractual services 1,000            1,000            -                       1,000               
Motor fuel expense 700               700               1,133                (433)                 
Small equipment expense 800               800               619                   181                  
Agricultural supplies 200               200               -                       200                  
Parks, recreation, cemetery supplies 100               100               -                       100                  

Total Cemetery Maintenance 16,293$         16,293$         20,445$            (4,152)$            
General Fund: (continued)
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Parks, recreation, and cultural: (continued)
Playgrounds and Parks:

Wages 13,506$         13,506$         11,845$            1,661$             
Fringes/benefits 7,634            7,634            6,381                1,253               
Contractual services 1,398            1,398            635                   763                  
Repairs and maintenance 200               200               -                       200                  
Utilities 2,400            2,400            2,092                308                  
Motor fuel expense 700               700               782                   (82)                  
Motor vehicle expense 200               200               -                       200                  
Small equipment expense 200               200               274                   (74)                  
Agricultural supplies 200               200               -                       200                  
Janitorial supplies 250               250               -                       250                  
Parks, recreation, cemetery supplies 300               300               831                   (531)                 
Infrastructure 39,500          -                   -                       -                      

Total Playgrounds and Parks 66,488$         26,988$         22,840$            4,148$             

Celeste Park:
Wages -$                 -$                 435$                 (435)$               
Fringes/benefits -                   -                   392                   (392)                 
Supplies -                   -                   337                   (337)                 
Land improvements -                   106,500         2,558                103,942           

Total Celeste Park -$                 106,500$       3,722$              102,778$          

Pigg River Heritage Trail:
Wages -$                 -$                 2,129$              (2,129)$            
Fringes/benefits -                   -                   1,676                (1,676)              
Contractual services -                   -                   15,651              (15,651)            
Pigg river heritage trail -                   -                   203                   (203)                 
Parks and recreational supplies -                   -                   2,563                (2,563)              

Total Pigg River Heritage Trail -$                 -$                 22,222$            (22,222)$          

Pigg River Dam Safety Improvements
Contractual services -$                 -$                 573$                 (573)$               
Infrastructure -                   30,000          -                       30,000             

Total Pigg River Dam Safety Improvements -$                 30,000$         573$                 29,427$           

Total parks, recreation, and cultural 82,781$         179,781$       69,802$            109,979$          
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General Fund: (continued)
Community development:

Planning and Zoning:
Wages 55,670$         55,670$         53,604$            2,066$             
Fringes/benefits 29,088          29,088          17,569              11,519             
Contractual services 10,000          10,000          13,694              (3,694)              
Advertising 3,500            3,500            897                   2,603               
Printing and binding 1,500            1,500            1,121                379                  
Postage and delivery services 1,500            1,500            587                   913                  
Motor fuel expense 650               650               539                   111                  
Motor vehicle expense 500               500               522                   (22)                  
Communications 1,400            1,400            1,736                (336)                 
Travel 3,500            3,500            2,984                516                  
Meeting expenses 250               250               313                   (63)                  
Stipends 10,075          10,075          7,750                2,325               
Dues and professional memberships 870               870               469                   401                  
Books and subscriptions 500               500               527                   (27)                  
Miscellaneous 100               100               2,293                (2,193)              
Office Supplies 1,750            1,750            -                       1,750               
Community development, P&Z, GIS supplies -                   -                   123                   (123)                 
Furniture and fixtures -                   -                   2,380                (2,380)              
Data processing equipment 1,500            1,500            2,383                (883)                 

Total Planning and Zoning 122,353$       122,353$       109,491$           12,862$           

Community and Economic Development:
Wages 78,063$         78,063$         77,023$            1,040$             
Fringes/benefits 29,510          29,510          24,894              4,616               
Contractual Services 40,000          40,000          24,597              15,403             
Advertising 1,500            1,500            2,743                (1,243)              
Printing and binding 5,000            5,000            2,212                2,788               
Postage and delivery services 600               600               454                   146                  
Motor fuel expense 350               350               1,096                (746)                 
Motor vehicle expense 300               300               744                   (444)                 
Communications 1,750            1,750            2,003                (253)                 
Travel, training, and education 5,000            5,000            2,319                2,681               
Dues and professional memberships 1,500            1,500            838                   662                  
Books and subscriptions 250               250               815                   (565)                 
Miscellaneous -                   -                   100                   (100)                 
Special events/promotions 15,750          15,750          13,350              2,400               
Office supplies 2,500            2,500            3,450                (950)                 
Community development, P&Z, GIS supplies -                   -                   68                     (68)                  
Capital outlay 1,500            1,500            735                   765                  
Furniture and fixtures 1,000            1,000            874                   126                  
Data processing equipment 1,500            1,500            6,404                (4,904)              
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General Fund: (continued)
Community development: (continued)

Community and Economic Development: (continued)
Town decorations 3,000$          3,000$          6,127$              (3,127)$            
Blighted structure redevelopment 40,000          -                   -                       -                      

Total Community and Economic Development 229,073$       189,073$       170,846$           18,227$           

Citizens' Square:
Wages -$                 -$                 5,874$              (5,874)$            
Fringes/benefits -                   -                   3,943                (3,943)              
Contractual services 8,000            8,000            8,354                (354)                 
Repairs and maintenance 500               500               49                     451                  
Advertising 2,000            2,000            108                   1,892               
Permits, licenses, fees 150               150               -                       150                  
Utilities 2,200            2,200            1,334                866                  
Special events/promotions 1,500            1,500            -                       1,500               
Janitorial supplies 1,000            1,000            210                   790                  
Citizens' Square/Depot supplies 50                 50                 1,189                (1,139)              
Capital outlay -                   -                   3,630                (3,630)              
Furniture and fixtures -                   -                   6,599                (6,599)              

Total Citizens' Square 15,400$         15,400$         31,290$            (15,890)$          

Community and Hospitality Center:
Wages -$                 -$                 5,403$              (5,403)$            
Fringes/benefits -                   -                   1,257                (1,257)              
Contractual services 5,000            5,000            7,735                (2,735)              
Repairs and maintenance 750               750               283                   467                  
Advertising 2,500            2,500            81                     2,419               
Printing and binding -                   -                   48                     (48)                  
Utilities 6,200            6,200            4,021                2,179               
Communications 1,200            1,200            750                   450                  
Miscellaneous -                   -                   221                   (221)                 
Office supplies -                   -                   320                   (320)                 
Janitorial supplies 300               300               717                   (417)                 
Merchandise for resale -                   -                   502                   (502)                 
Citizens' Square/Depot supplies -                   -                   2,372                (2,372)              
Furniture and fixtures 1,200            1,200            3,482                (2,282)              
Data processing equipment -                   -                   467                   (467)                 

Total Community and Hospitality Center 17,150$         17,150$         27,659$            (10,509)$          
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Schedule 2
Page 11 of 11

Variance with
Final Budget -

Original Final Positive
Budget Budget Actual (Negative)

Town of Rocky Mount, Virginia
Schedule of Expenditures - Budget and Actual

Governmental Funds
For the Year Ended June 30, 2012

Fund, Function, Activity and Element

General Fund: (continued)
Community development: (continued)

Passport Program:
Postage and delivery services 750$             750$             954$                 (204)$               
Office supplies 100               100               717                   (617)                 
Passport supplies 200               200               -                       200                  

Total Passport Program 1,050$          1,050$          1,671$              (621)$               

Planning and community development:
Contractual services -$                 40,000$         22,663$            17,337$           
Remediation blighted structure -                   -                   11,000              (11,000)            
Total Planning and community development -$                 40,000$         33,663$            6,337$             

Total community development 385,026$       385,026$       374,620$           10,406$           

Non-departmental:
Wages -$                 -$                 27,239$            (27,239)$          
Fringes/benefits 54,459          54,459          40,163              14,296             
Insurance 67,000          67,000          58,832              8,168               
Contributions to other entities 22,500          22,500          22,500              -                      
Letter of credit reimbursement -                   -                   250,000            (250,000)          
Contingency 27,500          27,500          -                       27,500             

Total Non-departmental 171,459$       171,459$       398,734$           (227,275)$         

Debt service:
Principal retirement 189,300$       189,300$       189,300$           -$                    
Interest and fiscal charges 127,201         127,201         126,381            820                  

Total debt service 316,501$       316,501$       315,681$           820$                

Total General Fund 4,752,606$    5,145,744$    5,204,932$        (59,188)$          

Capital Projects Fund:
Capital Projects:
Community development:

Capital outlay 845,734$       371,074$       845,734$           (474,660)$         
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Contents

Financial Trends 1-4

Revenue Capacity 5-8

Debt Capacity 9-10

Demographic and Economic Information 11-12

Operating Information 13-15

Sources: Unless otherwise noted, the information in these tables is derived from the 
  comprehensive annual financial reports for the relevant year.  The City implemented GASB 34
  in the fiscal year 2003; schedules presenting government-wide information include information
  beginning in that year.

These schedules present information to help the reader assess the affordability of the
government's current levels of outstanding debt and the government's ability to issue additional
debt in the future.

These tables offer demographic and economic indicators to help the reader understand the
environment within which the Town's financial activities take place and to help make comparisons
over time and with other governments.

These schedules contain information about the Town's operations and resources to help the reader
understand how the Town's financial information relates to the services the Town provides and the
activities it performs.

STATISTICAL SECTION

performance and well-being have changed over time.

These tables contain informationto help the reader assess the factors affecting the Town's ability
to generate its property taxes and utility revenues.

This part of the Town of Rocky Mount, Virginia's comprehensive annual financial report presents detailed information as a context for 
understanding what the information in the financial statements, note disclosures, and required supplementary information says 
about the government's overall financial health.
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Table 6

Percentage Percentage
of Total Town of Total Town

 Taxable Taxable
 Assessed  Assessed Assessed  Assessed 

Taxpayer Value Rank Value Value Rank Value

Southgate Associates II LP 10,422,700$    1      2.23% 6,546,200$        6     2.61%

Wal-Mart Real Estate Business Trust 9,985,400       2      2.13% 7,348,700         3     2.93%

Rocky Mount Development Company LLC/Midland 9,886,000       3      2.11% 7,109,500         4     2.83%

PG Multi-16 LP/M W Manufacturers Inc. 9,471,500       4      2.02% 8,156,100         1     3.25%

Franklin Memorial Hospital/Carilion 9,210,600       5      1.97% -                       0.00%

Lowes Home Centers Inc. 8,327,400       6      1.78% -                       0.00%

Trinity Packaging Corporation/Standard Register 8,206,000       7      1.75% 2,948,300         11    1.17%

Rocky Mount Orchard Avenue LLC 6,205,400       8      1.33% 7,081,500         5     2.82%

Mod-U-Kraf Homes Inc. 5,666,800       9      1.21% 2,948,600         10    1.17%

F-H Holding Inc./Fleetwood Homes 5,206,200       10     1.11% 4,586,300         8     1.83%

L & M Properties LLC/The Lane Co. 5,142,900       11     1.10% 7,779,300         2     3.10%

Medical Facilities of Virginia/Franklin Health Care 5,084,800       12     1.09% 6,341,300         7     2.53%

Eldercare Inc./Trinity Mission of Rocky Mount 4,286,900       13     0.92% 3,982,200         9     1.59%

Rocky Mount Limited Liability Co. 3,869,100       14     0.83% 1,819,900         17    0.72%

Franklin County Lodging 3,506,400       15     0.75% -                       0.00%

Danny Perdue 3,068,000       16     0.66% 767,100            23    0.31%

Ferguson Land & Lumber Co. Inc. 2,622,900       17     0.56% 1,395,000         20    0.56%

Newbold Corporation 2,563,200       18     0.55% 2,320,200         13    0.92%

Windy Lane Associates Limited 2,559,900       19     0.55% 1,429,000         20    0.57%

CVS #7565 (40W) 2,368,900       20     0.51% -                       0.00%

Branch Banking & Trust 2,352,200       21     0.50% 80,900              0.03%

Solomon Beacon Inn/Comfort Inn/Humphrey Hospi 2,329,900       22     0.50% 2,568,700         12    1.02%

TFG Properties 2,322,600       23     0.50% -                       0.00%

Tanyad Village Limited Partners 2,185,600       24     0.47% 1,479,300         19    0.59%

Franklin Plaza Partners 1,882,400       25     0.40% 1,000,400         22    0.40%

W-D Rocky Mount Va. Partners -                    0.00% 2,178,800         14    0.87%

Candlewood 1,706,400       0.36% 2,176,900         15    0.87%

Erath Veneer Inc. -                    0.00% 2,051,500         16    0.82%

Rocky Top Wood Preservers, Inc. -                    0.00% 1,624,100         18    0.65%

Weaver Mirror Co., Inc. 634,700          0.14% 1,163,400         21    0.46%

131,074,800$  27.88% 68,662,600$      21.59%

Source:  Real estate tax assessments

Town of Rocky Mount, Virginia
Principal Property Taxpayers

Current Year and Ten Years Ago

Fiscal Year 2012 Fiscal Year 2002
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Table 7

Fiscal
Year Taxes Levied

Ended for the  Percentage  Percentage 
June 30 Fiscal Year Amount of Levy Amount of Levy

2012 899,388$           809,005$            89.95% 826,558$          91.90%

2011 879,419             869,431             98.86% 892,160            101.45%

2010 869,573             869,099             99.95% 892,494            102.64%

2009 890,915             852,065             95.64% 855,309            96.00%

2008 813,789             804,657             98.88% 813,959            100.02%

2007 788,293             757,667             96.11% 757,667            96.11%

2006 730,218             724,135             99.17% 724,135            99.17%

2005 603,696             590,127             97.75% 606,103            100.40%

2004 537,765             520,577             96.80% 532,353            98.99%

2003 539,589             536,159             99.36% 547,369            101.44%

Note:  Total collections include prior year collections while the levy represents the current year only.
Source:  Detailed Town property tax records.

TOWN OF ROCKY MOUNT, VIRGINIA
PROPERTY TAX LEVIES AND COLLECTIONS

Last Ten Fiscal Years

Collected within the
Fiscal Year of the Levy Total Collections to Date
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Table 8

Percentage Percentage
of Total Billed of Total Billed

 Monthly Monthly Monthly Monthly
 Average  Average Average  Average

Taxpayer Consumption Rank Consumption Consumption Rank Consumption

Ronile 2,090,988     1     10.53% 631,050        2     2.99%
PlyGem Windows 873,707        2     4.40% 1,289,864     1     6.12%
Trinity Mission 710,921        3     3.58% 579,683        4     2.75%
Franklin County High School 456,442        4     2.30%
Greater Southern Wood Preservers/Roc 433,457        5     2.18%
Franklin County Middle School 376,861        6     1.90%
Medical Facilities of America 373,697        7     1.88% 157,225        10    0.75%
Candlewood Apartments 332,395        8     1.67%
Home Town Ice 263,563        9     1.33%
Rocky Mount Development (Kroger) 211,614        10    1.07%
Carilion Franklin Memorial Hospital 186,655        11    0.94% 211,892        7     1.00%
Franklin County Courthouse Complex 176,970        12    0.89%
Property Mgt / Mountain View Apts. 158,428        13    0.80%
All American Auto Spa 150,708        14    0.76%
Tanyard Village 140,488        15    0.71%
Holiday Inn Express 133,836        16    0.67%
Ferguson Land & Lumber 127,681        17    0.64% 608,633        3     2.89%
Rocky Mount Comfort Inn 125,958        18    0.63%
Franklin Car Wash 124,542        19    0.63%
Applebee's International 115,303        20    0.58%
Sheilee Laundry 78,575          0.38% 159,825        9     0.76%
Southgate Shopping Center 71,038          0.35%
Wal-mart 81,829          0.40% 228,957        6     1.09%
The Lane Company -                  0.00% 553,050        5     2.62%
Franklin Ready Mix 10,720          0.05% 168,800        8     0.80%

Source:  Average Consumption Report from Utility Billing System

TOWN OF ROCKY MOUNT, VIRGINIA
PRINCIPAL UTILITY CUSTOMERS
(Largest Own-Source Revenue)

Current Year and Ten Years Ago

Fiscal Year 2012 Fiscal Year 2002
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Table 10

General Total Percentage
Fiscal Notes Revenue Obligation Revenue Primary of Personal Per
Year Payable Bonds Bonds Bonds Government Income Capita

2012 1,475,000$      1,171,800$      2,931,568$      998,200$         6,576,568$        0.38% 1,370$     
2011 1,640,000        1,196,100        3,576,900        1,018,900        7,431,900         0.43% 1,549       
2010 1,641,948        1,220,400        6,211,736        1,039,600        10,113,684        6.67% 2,235       
2009 1,755,113        1,242,000        6,871,743        1,058,000        10,926,856        8.88% 2,405       
2008 1,863,353        1,263,600        7,512,557        1,076,400        11,715,910        10.09% 2,567       
2007 1,966,882        1,285,200        8,129,798        1,094,800        12,476,680        10.26% 2,731       
2006 2,065,905        -                     8,729,067        -                     10,794,972        9.39% 2,363       
2005 2,160,618        -                     9,502,629        -                     11,663,247        10.14% 2,561       
2004 2,251,208        -                     10,056,897      -                     12,308,105        10.99% 2,702       
2003 2,337,855        -                     10,595,042      -                     12,932,897        11.88% 2,856       

Source: Note 7

Governmental Activities

Town of Rocky Mount, Virginia
Ratios of Outstanding Debt by Type

Last Ten Fiscal Years 

Business-Type Activities
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Table 11

Total Personal
Fiscal Per Capita Income Public 
Year Personal  Thousands School Unemployment

Ended (1) Population (2) Income (3) of Dollars (3) Enrollment Rate

2012 4,820                 -$                      -$                      7,278                 6.20%
2011 4,799                 32,626               1,840,735           7,325                 8.00%
2010 4,525                 33,116               1,719,502           7,120                 7.60%
2009 4,544                 33,420               1,728,877           7,285                 4.90%
2008 4,564                  28,893               131,867              7,185                 4.70%
2007 4,564                  27,082               123,602              7,256                 3.40%
2006 4,568                  26,622               121,609              7,146                 3.20%
2005 4,555                 25,249          115,009              7,074                 3.40%
2004 4,555                 25,249          115,009              7,110                 3.60%
2003 4,529                 24,727          111,989              6,996                 4.50%
2002 4,520                 24,089          108,882              6,975                 6.20%

(1)  Population, school enrollment and unemployment figures are based on fiscal
years ending June 30.  Per Capita Income is as of December 31.

(2)  Population is based on figures available from the Weldon Cooper Center,
University of Virginia and the City Planning Department.

(3)  Source:  Bureau of Economic Analysis (for Franklin County).  Current year information is unavailable until December 31

TOWN OF ROCKY MOUNT, VIRGINIA
DEMOGRAPHIC AND ECONOMIC STATISTICS

Last Ten Fiscal Years
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Table 12

Percentage Percentage 
 of Total of Total

Employer Employees Rank Employment Employees Rank Employment

Franklin County Public Schools 1,333            1          27.93% 1,094            2          23.30%

Ply Gem Manufacturers Inc. 1,000            2          20.96% 1,367            1          29.12%

Franklin County 415               3          8.70% 272               6          5.79%

Trinity Packaging Inc. 312               4          6.54% 300               4          6.39%

Wal-mart 293               5          6.14% 343               3          7.31%

Carilion Franklin Memorial Hospital 280               6          5.87% 270               7          5.75%

Ronile Inc. 203               7          4.25% 289               5          6.16%

Arrington Enterprises 174               8          3.65% -                   -           0.00%

Trinity Mission Healthcare 167               9          3.50% 200               10         4.26%

Lowe's 121               10         2.54% -                   -           0.00%

Mod-U-Kraf Homes Inc. 118               11         2.47% 245               8          5.22%

Kroger 100               12         2.10% 115               12         2.45%

Fleetwood Homes of Virginia 96                 13         2.01% 200               9          4.26%

YMCA 80                 14         1.68% -                   -           0.00%

McDonald's 80                 15         1.68% -                   -           0.00%

4,772 4,695            

Note:  2005 was the first year this data was accumulated.

Source:  Virginia Employment Commission & employer human resource offices

TOWN OF ROCKY MOUNT, VIRGINIA
PRINCIPAL EMPLOYERS

Current Year and Seven Years Ago

Fiscal Year 2012 Fiscal Year 2005
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COMPLIANCE SECTION 



ROBINSON, FARMER, COX ASSOCIATES 
 

CERTIFIED PUBLIC ACCOUNTANTS         A PROFESSIONAL LIMITED LIABILITY COMPANY 

 
 

Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting and on 
Compliance and Other Matters Based on an Audit of Financial Statements 

Performed in Accordance with Government Auditing Standards 
 
 
The Honorable Members of Town Council 
Town of Rocky Mount, Virginia 
 

We have audited the financial statements of the governmental activities, the business-type 
activities, each major fund, and the aggregate remaining fund information of Town of Rocky Mount, 
Virginia, as of and for the year ended June 30, 2012, which collectively comprise the Town of Rocky 
Mount, Virginia’s basic financial statements and have issued our report thereon dated November 2, 
2012.  We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the 
United States of America; the Specifications for Audits of Counties, Cities, and Towns, issued by the 
Auditor of Public Accounts of the Commonwealth of Virginia; and the standards applicable to 
financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards, issued by the Comptroller General of 
the United States. 

Internal Control Over Financial Reporting 

Management of Town of Rocky Mount, Virginia is responsible for establishing and maintaining 
effective internal control over financial reporting.  In planning and performing our audit, we 
considered Town of Rocky Mount, Virginia’s internal control over financial reporting as a basis for 
designing our auditing procedures for the purpose of expressing our opinion on the financial 
statements, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of Town of Rocky 
Mount, Virginia’s internal control over financial reporting.  Accordingly, we do not express an opinion 
on the effectiveness of Town of Rocky Mount, Virginia’s internal control over financial reporting. 

A deficiency in internal control exists when the design or operation of a control does not allow 
management or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to prevent, 
or detect and correct misstatements on a timely basis.  A material weakness is a deficiency, or a 
combination of deficiencies, in internal control such that there is a reasonable possibility that a 
material misstatement of the entity’s financial statements will not be prevented, or detected and 
corrected on a timely basis.  

Our consideration of internal control over financial reporting was for the limited purpose described 
in the first paragraph of this section and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal 
control over financial reporting that might be deficiencies, significant deficiencies, or material 
weaknesses.  We did not identify any deficiencies in internal control over financial reporting that we 
consider to be material weaknesses, as defined above.   A significant deficiency is a deficiency, or a 
combination of deficiencies, in internal control that is less severe than a material weakness, yet 
important enough to merit attention by those charged with governance.  We did not identify any 
deficiencies in internal control over financial reporting that we consider to be significant deficiencies 
as defined above. 
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Compliance and Other Matters 

As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether Town of Rocky Mount, Virginia’s financial 
statements are free of material misstatement, we performed tests of its compliance with certain 
provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and grant agreements, noncompliance with which could 
have a direct and material effect on the determination of financial statement amounts.  However, 
providing an opinion on compliance with those provisions was not an objective of our audit, and 
accordingly, we do not express such an opinion.  The results of our tests disclosed no instances of 
noncompliance or other matters that are required to be reported under Government Auditing 
Standards.  

We noted certain matters that we reported to management of Town of Rocky Mount, Virginia in a 
separate letter dated November 2, 2012.   

This report is intended solely for the information and use of management, Town Council, others 
within the entity, and is not intended to be and should not be used by anyone other than these 
specified parties. 

 

 
Blacksburg, Virginia 
November 2, 2012 
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Section I - Summary of Auditor's Results

Financial Statements

Type of auditor's report issued: Unqualified

Internal control over financial reporting:
Material weakness(es) identified? No

Significant deficiency(ies) identified? No

Noncompliance material to financial statements noted? No

Section II - Financial Statement Findings

None

Section III - Status of Prior Audit Findings and Responses

Financial statement finding 2011-1 was resolved during the current year.

Town of Rocky Mount

Schedule of Findings and Responses
Year Ended June 30, 2012
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ITEM(S) TO BE CONSIDERED UNDER:   
□ Hearing of Citizens □ Consent Item      □ Old Business     X New Business     

□ Committee Report □ Other     
FOR COUNCIL MEETING DATED: February 11, 2013 
 
 
STAFF MAKING 
REQUEST:  

 
C. James Ervin, Town Manager 

  
 
BRIEF SUMMARY 
OF REQUEST: 
 

 
In 2009, the Town of Rocky Mount, along with other localities in 
Virginia served by American Electric Power (AEP), negotiated a rate 
agreement with AEP with the services of legal counsel funded by all 
the members in common through the Virginia Municipal League and 
the Virginia Association of Counties. 
 
This contract recently expired and the same team began the process 
of negotiating a renewal.  While the renewal is being negotiated, an 
extension of the existing agreement was proposed and accepted by 
each side.  The proposed contract modification extends the current 
rates paid by the Town, with the exception of street lights, to April of 
2013 with a possible six month extension. 
 
The street light tariff was adjusted to grant AEP $200,000 of 
additional revenue across all localities.  Exhibit B-1 to the extension 
agreement is the new street light tariff and it represents an increase 
of approximately 2%.   
 
AEP's original position was for a significant rate increase and a 6% 
street light increase.  On the whole, the localities involved feel that 
the legal team negotiating with AEP secured a good deal. 
 
To continue receiving our discounted electric rate, we must execute 
an extension to the original contract.  That extension is submitted 
and staff asks for Council's authorization to execute it on behalf of 
the Town of Rocky Mount. 
         

  
 
ACTION NEEDED: 
 

 
Approval/denial to execute an extension of AEP’s original 
contract as requested. 

 
Attachment(s):  Yes 
 
FOLLOW-UP ACTION: 
(To be completed by Town Clerk) 
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ITEM(S) TO BE CONSIDERED UNDER:   
□ Hearing of Citizens □ Consent Item      □ Old Business     X New Business     

□ Committee Report □ Other     
 
 
FOR COUNCIL MEETING DATED: February 11, 2013 
 
 
STAFF MAKING 
REQUEST:  
 

 
C. James Ervin, Town Manager 

  
 
BRIEF SUMMARY 
OF REQUEST: 
 

 
Attached is a letter dated January 18, 2013 to the Mayor and 
Town Council from Lorinda Lionberger, Chairman of the Rocky 
Mount Beautification and Urban Design (BUD) Commission, 
requesting Council’s review and consideration of appointing 
Aaron Burdick to a three-year term as a voting member of the 
BUD Commission.  Mr. Burdick has consented to serve.   
 
         

  
 
ACTION NEEDED: 
 

 
Approval/denial of request.  

 
Attachment(s):  Yes 
 
FOLLOW-UP ACTION: 
(To be completed by Town Clerk) 
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ITEM(S) TO BE CONSIDERED UNDER:   
□ Hearing of Citizens □ Consent Item       □ Old Business     X New Business     

□ Committee Report □ Other     
 
 
FOR COUNCIL MEETING DATED: February 11, 2013 
 
 
STAFF MAKING 
REQUEST:  

 
C. James Ervin, Town Manager 

  
 
BRIEF SUMMARY 
OF REQUEST: 
 

 
Attached is a letter dated January 15, 2013 to the Rocky Mount 
Town Council from Johnny Nolen, Race Director for the 
“Johnny CASA 5-Miler-5k Run/Walk Event”.  He is requesting 
Council’s review and consideration of approval for them to be 
able to hold their 8th Annual Johnny CASA event in Rocky 
Mount to benefit the Child Advocacy Center located at 300 
South Main Street in Rocky Mount.  In the past, they have held 
the event at the Lakewatch Plantation in Moneta.   
 
Due to the other events taking place during the month of 
October, Mr. Nolen has discussed the best time to hold the 
event this fall in the Town with the Chief of Police, with both 
agreeing that Saturday, October 12th, starting at 8:30 a.m. 
would be the best date.  
 
The attached letter outlines the proposed route.   
 

  
 
ACTION NEEDED: 
 

 
Approval/denial of request.  

 
Attachment(s):  Yes 
 
FOLLOW-UP ACTION: 
(To be completed by Town Clerk) 
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ITEM(S) TO BE CONSIDERED UNDER:   
□ Hearing of Citizens □ Consent Item      □ Old Business     X New Business     

□ Committee Report □ Other     
 
 
FOR COUNCIL MEETING DATED: February 11, 2013 
 
 
STAFF MAKING 
REQUEST:  

 
C. James Ervin, Town Manager 

  
 
BRIEF SUMMARY 
OF REQUEST: 
 

 
The Outlaw Cruisers Car Club is requesting: 
 
(1) Permission to hold their annual car show to benefit several 
non-profit organizations.  This event is tentatively scheduled for 
Sunday, May 26, 2013, from 1 p.m. to 4 p.m., with a rain date 
of Sunday, June 2, 2013, during the same time.   
(2) Permission to have two Cruise-Ins downtown at the same 
location on Saturday, June 29, 2013 and August 31, 2013, 
from 5:30 p.m. until ??? (no rain date).   
 
The club is also asking: (1) permission for these events to be 
held downtown on the stated dates; (2) permission to close 
Franklin Street and streets intersecting it beginning at Arrington 
Flowers and ending at the stoplight intersection of the post 
office for both the annual car show and the Cruise-Ins.   
 
The Chief of Police has looked at the request for both events 
and sees no problem with both requests being held downtown, 
along with no problem in closing the streets as the annual car 
show will take place on Sundays, and even though the Cruise-
Ins will take place on Saturdays, they will be after 
businesses close.  
 

  
 
ACTION NEEDED: 
 

 
Approval/denial of requests.  

 
Attachment(s):  Yes 
 
FOLLOW-UP ACTION: 
(To be completed by Town Clerk) 
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ITEM(S) TO BE CONSIDERED UNDER:   
□ Hearing of Citizens □ Consent Item      □ Old Business     X New Business     

□ Committee Report □ Other     
 
 
FOR COUNCIL MEETING DATED: February 11, 2013 
 
 
STAFF MAKING 
REQUEST:  
 

 
C. James Ervin, Town Manager 
Linda Woody, Finance Director 

  
 
BRIEF SUMMARY 
OF REQUEST: 
 

 
Enclosed is the proposed “FY 14 Budget & Capital 
Improvement Plan Schedule” listing dates of activity for the 
upcoming Fiscal Year 2014 budget process.   
 
Highlighted in yellow are the proposed dates that will affect 
Council regarding meetings related to the budget and proposed 
budget work sessions and public hearings. 
 
         

  
 
ACTION NEEDED: 
 

 
Approval/denial of proposed plan schedule.  

 
Attachment(s):  Yes 
 
FOLLOW-UP ACTION: 
(To be completed by Town Clerk) 
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